


MARCH 2019 - FEBRUARY 2020

Honourable Minister of Justice and Correctional 
Services, Mr Ronald Lamola, it is with pleasure that 
we present you with the Annual Report of the South 
African Board for Sheriffs for the period 1 March 
2019 to 29 February 2020.
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MISSION

• We will provide a professional and credible service to  
 all our clients and other stakeholders

• We will develop skilled, knowledgeable and motivated  
 staff

• We will develop a unified and committed South  
 African Board for Sheriffs with focused leadership

• We will enhance the image and goodwill of the  
 sheriffs’ profession
 

VISION

• We are a Board that is transparent and responsive to  
 the needs of the sheriffs’ profession

• We will promote a professional sheriffs’ service that  
 is respectful and efficient, to deliver justice to all with  
 integrity and accountability

• We will be accountable in terms of our legislative  
 mandate and strive to entrench a culture of human  
 rights as envisaged by the Constitution
 

CORE VALUES

• Accountability
• Integrity
• Professionalism
• Transparency
• Efficiency
• Respect 
• Equity

CORE BUSINESS

The core business of the South African Board for 
Sheriffs

The South African Board for Sheriffs (SABFS) is a 
regulatory statutory body established by the Minister in 
terms of Section 7 of the Sheriffs Act No 90 of 1986 
(Sheriffs Act). The Sheriffs Act describes the objects of 
the SABFS as: ‘the maintenance of the esteem of, the 
enhancement of the status of, and the improvement of 
the standard of training of and functions performed by,
sheriffs.’

The mandate of the Board is therefore prescribed, and 
we aim to do the following:

• Transform the sheriffs’ profession, the SABFS and its  
 staff and bring it in line with constitutional imperatives

• Review all relevant legislation, among others the  
 Sheriffs Act, and if necessary, lobby for reform in  
 a manner which protects the interests of the sheriffs’  
 profession and all stakeholders

• Communicate effectively with all stakeholders and  
 sheriffs

• Discipline sheriffs

• Monitor the conduct of sheriffs

• Promote professionalism

• Set standards for training of persons who are, or who  
 intend participating in, the sheriffs’ profession

• Set up the necessary training programmes

• Formulate policy directives

• Ensure effective management of the SABFS and its  
 office



STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

The Board has adopted a Strategic Plan for the three 
year period of 2018 to 2021. The management team of 
the SABFS is charged with operationalising the Plan and 
reporting quarterly on the performance achievements in 
respect of the stated objectives.

PROGRAMME 1: Compliance

The goal of this programme is to ensure compliance by 
the sheriffs with the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986, as amended, 
and subordinate legislation governing sheriffs. This is 
performed through promoting constitutional standards 
and enforcing the code of conduct of sheriffs and deputy 
sheriffs, with due regard for the interests of the public.

PROGRAMME 2: Fidelity Fund

The goal of this programme is to improve the financial 
performance of the Fidelity Fund through effective 
management of the Fund. The SABFS has appointed a 
Fidelity Fund Committee to oversee the activities of the 
Fund.

PROGRAMME 3: Enhancing the sheriffs’ profession

The goal of this programme is to build capacity and 
professionalise the work and image of sheriffs.  This 
is performed by providing training to the profession 
annually and by increasing stakeholder awareness of the 
sheriffs’ role, as well as public relations and marketing 
activities.

PROGRAMME 4: Governance and corporate 
support services

The goal of this programme is to improve the financial 
sustainability of the sheriffs’ profession and to maintain 
corporate governance standards.

PROGRAMME 5: Legal

The goal of this programme is to ensure compliance 
with legal requirements and to regulate the sheriffs’ 
profession by conducting inspections and implementing 
disciplinary procedures against transgressing sheriffs.
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SABFS strategic objectives

At the end of the second year of our term in 2019 our 
three-year Strategic Plan was well on track. Not knowing 
what the new year would bring, I was confident that 
we would overachieve during the last year of our term, 
beginning in 2020.

In February 2020 we revisited our strategic objectives for 
the coming financial year and envisaged great success 
due to our diligent planning and preparation. The 
legacies we would leave behind include the historical 
development and implementation of the Legal Practice 
Bookkeeping Course for Sheriffs. The Board also prides 
itself on recording unqualified audit reports for the past 
seven years.

When the world was exposed to COVID-19 and our 
government announced a State of Disaster, our lives 
were plunged into turmoil. Our newly revised strategic 
plan was no longer relevant… The sheriffs’ profession 
was as affected by the pandemic as any other business 
in South Africa and as a Board we were expected to 
provide the leadership and guidance everyone needed. 

CHAIRPERSON’S
REPORT

Since sheriffs were not able to perform their functions 
due to the lockdown regulations at levels 5 and 4, sheriffs 
and their staff were faced with a financially crippling 
situation. The Board was inundated with requests 
for financial assistance and guidance in interpreting 
the regulations, with a new set of regulations being 
published almost every second week. 

During the lockdown period the Board, in consultation 
with the voluntary associations, submitted numerous 
comments and inputs on regulations that were published 
governing the functions of sheriffs. We also provided 
sheriffs with a Workplace Policy template and other 
guiding circulars to assist them during this time.   

Our strategic objectives had to change to accommodate 
the environment and we therefore requested that 
the Honourable Minister of Justice and Correctional 
Services, Mr R Lamola, allow the South African Board 
for Sheriffs (SABFS) to deviate from the prescriptions of 
the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 to provide Covid-19 relief for 
sheriffs. I take this opportunity to thank the Minister for 
his positive consideration of this request, which greatly 
helped the sheriffs’ profession. 

Sheriffs care for, support and uphold  the dignity 
of those they serve, throughout and despite 
COVID-19          CHARMAINE MABUZA
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COVID-19 Relief for sheriffs
 
The SABFS was able to bring financial relief to both 
sheriffs and deputy sheriffs, amounting to R2 500 000.00.
Relief to 102 of the lower income sheriffs’ offices was 
provided in an amount of R10 000.00 each, in the form 
of a rebate on the levies due by the sheriff in terms of the 
Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986. If the levy of 1.5% was less than 
the rebate, then the sheriff received the difference in the 
form of a monetary refund, and where the levy due was 
more than R10 000.00, the sheriff paid the difference. 
The financial relief to these sheriffs amounted to 
R1 020 000.00. 

The 740 deputy sheriffs registered with the SABFS 
received a once-off amount of R2 000.00 each, totaling 
R1 480 000.00.

Resignations and new appointments to the Board

I would like to officially welcome Mrs Sphiwe Florence 
Mashaba and Mrs Ashika Singh to the SABFS.

Mrs Mashaba is a legal advisor in the Executive 
Department at the National Credit Regulator. 

At the time of her appointment to the SABFS, Mrs Singh 
was the Acting Regional Head for the Department of 
Justice and Constitutional Development in the Western 
Cape as well as the Director for Legal Administration. 

We thank Adv Hishaam Mohamed and Mr Lionel 
Mashapa for their sterling efforts at the SABFS over a 
number of years. Their guidance and contributions to 
the Board were greatly valued.

Transformation of the sheriffs’ profession

The Deputy Minister of Justice and Constitutional 
Development, Mr John Jeffery, appointed 24 new sheriffs 
to fill vacant offices. 

As at the end of February 2019, there were 254 sheriffs 
operating nationally - of these 31% were female and 69% 
male. The racial demographics were: 43.3% African, 
36.2% White,11.8% Coloured, and 8.6% Indian. 

The newly appointed sheriffs enhance the transformation 
of the profession as they reflect the demographics of 
the country in respect of race and gender. Of the newly 
appointed sheriffs, 18 are African, two are White, two are 
Coloured and two are Indian. Ten are men and 14 are 
women. Some of the newly appointed sheriffs already 
hold an office as sheriff in other smaller areas and will 
therefore not affect the race and gender demographics.

Training

Embedded in the training and development objectives 
of the SABFS is its transformation agenda. The strategic 
approach of the Board has been to continuously map 
routes towards the transformation and reconstruction of 
the education and training of sheriffs. One of the core 
business areas of the Board is indeed to transform the 
sheriffs’ profession, the SABFS and its staff, and to bring 
it in line with our constitutional imperatives.

Disciplinary action

A total of 635 formal complaints have been received 
by the office of the Board for the period March 2019 to 
February 2020, with 594 (93.54%) of these complaints 
resolved. The following statistics indicate the number of 
complaints received, resolved and pending:

• A total of 926 enquiries have been received for 
 the period March 2019 to February 2020, of which  
 all have been resolved

• The Board has scheduled four disciplinary hearings  
 consisting of multiple charges

Fidelity Fund

It is the fiduciary duty of the SABFS to maintain, regulate 
and report on the Fidelity Fund.

The value of the Fidelity Fund increased by 4.9% over 
the financial period. The Fund is now valued at R147.2 
million (2019: R140.3 million). The reason for the increase 
in the value of the Fund was due to a decrease in claims 
against the Fund.

The Fund received 34 new claims during the period to the 
value of R21 299 214.24. Interest earned on investments 
was R10.6 million (2019: R10.8 million). Over the 
last eight years the total amount of claims paid was 
R23 014 057.35, with 73% paid directly from the Fidelity 
Fund (self-insurance) and 27% recovered from Fidelity 
Insurance.

Criminal action

Since 2017, a total of nine criminal actions have been 
initiated by the SABFS against sheriffs, one of which 
has resulted in a criminal conviction and the rest are 
pending. The Board has a no tolerance approach to 
misappropriation of trust funds and believes offenders 
must be prosecuted. 



Acknowledgements

The SABFS again wish to thank Justice College for 
hosting the Sheriffs Introductory Course during the 
reporting period. 

I take this opportunity to acknowledge the reappointment 
of the Deputy Minister Mr John Jeffery to the Department 
of Justice and Constitutional Development. The SABFS 
also welcome Mr Ronald Lamola, Minister of Justice and 
Correctional Services, to this very important government 
portfolio. We wish him well and pledge our support.  

The Board requested Mr Andrew Simon to manage the 
office as Acting Executive Manager during 2019. On 
behalf of the Board I wish to express our appreciation to 
him for his assistance during the financial year. 

We have since employed the services of Mrs Jody van 
Wyk, who started with us as our new Executive Manager 
on 1 April 2020. We welcome her to the SABFS and the 
sheriffs’ profession.

I thank my fellow Board members for their support and 
commitment throughout the year and trust that we will 
achieve all of the objectives we have planned for our 
final year together as a Board.

Finally, we remain most grateful to our valued 
stakeholders. We have a good working relationship with 
them and have jointly resolved to enhance the sheriffs’ 
profession to the benefit of all, especially the public.

Mrs Charmaine Mabuza
Chairperson SABFS
30 July 2020
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Financial management

The external auditors gave both the SABFS and the 
Fidelity Fund another unqualified audit report for the 
reporting period. 

Levy payments and administrative fees were the main 
sources of funding for the SABFS. The total revenue 
collected was R22.2 million (2019: R19.5 million). 
Operating expenditure increased from the previous 
period to R21.7 million (2019: R19.5 million). This 
resulted in a surplus of R1.7 million (2019: R1.6 million).

Compliance with legal obligations

The purpose of Legal Obligations Phase 1 (mid-year), is 
to collect levies and interest payable to the Board and 
the Fidelity Fund, from sheriffs.

The purpose of Legal Obligations Phase 2 (year-end), 
is to have individual sheriffs apply to the SABFS for a 
Fidelity Fund Certificate. This is repeated annually.

The Board experienced 99.99% compliance by sheriffs, 
leading to the issuing of Fidelity Fund Certificates to 
them. Only one sheriff was not issued with a Fidelity 

Fund Certificate for not complying with Legal Obligations 
for Phase 1.

SASSETA

The Board annually completes the Workplace Skills Plan 
and Annual Training Report on behalf of the sheriffs’ 
profession. This was submitted through a consultant by 
the due date in April 2019 and the Board has successfully 
recovered a mandatory grant refund payment from 
the Safety and Security Sector Education and Training 
Authority (SASSETA) for the period.

We are most grateful to the SASSETA Board and 
management team for their contribution of R800 
000.00 towards our R1.4 million budget for the Sheriffs 
Introductory Course and for supporting our application 
to convert this course to an occupational qualification.

Historic training project

The Training Committee of the SABFS has resolved 
to embark on a national compulsory Legal Practice 
Bookkeeping Course for Sheriffs in 2020. This three-day 
classroom session with assessments was earmarked 
to replace the Needs Based Training sessions this year. 

This reporting period is for the 
financial year ending 29 February 
2020

EXECUTIVE 
MANAGER’S 
REPORT
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We will monitor and be guided by the development of 
the pandemic regarding implementation of classroom 
sessions.

Sheriffs Guide: Practice and Procedure

The Sheriffs Guide: Practice and Procedure has been 
updated by the commissioned author Mr Harry van 
Nieuwenhuizen, the sheriff for Witbank, with input 
from the Sheriff’s Guide Reference Group. Juta Law 
Publishers are the distributers of the publication. We 
thank all of them for their support.

Sheriffs Introductory Course

We provided a majority black (African, Coloured and 
Indian) group of deputies and support staff (103 learners 
from all provinces) the opportunity to advance their studies 
by completing the Sheriffs Introductory Course in 2019. 
It is our aim to provide these learners with an opportunity 
to advance their skills and to prepare them for possible 
consideration when applying for sheriffs’ posts. 

Needs Based Training

The aim of the NBT is to keep the profession abreast of 
emerging legislation and rules to promote professional 
service delivery. 

Outreach and stakeholder activities

Gauteng sheriffs attended the Presidential Launch of 
the Summit Declaration Against Gender Based Violence 
and Femicide and the official opening of the Booysens 
Magistrate Court on 28 March 2019, on behalf of the 
profession. 

The SABFS also attended the opening of the new 
Plettenburg Bay Court on 2 May 2019. Executive Board 
member Adv Hishaam Mohamed (the former Regional 
Head for Department of Justice and Constitutional 
Development) and Adv Michael Masutha, the former 
Minister for Justice and Correctional Services, were 
amongst the dignitaries at the event.  

The Board hosted a roadshow on 26 June 2019 in 
Johannesburg and on 30 September 2019 in Durban, 
with key stakeholders. 

World Sheriffs Day was celebrated on Thursday 13 June 
2019, with the theme “The Sheriff Meets the Youth”. 

Cost of consultants and technical advisors

The Board employed the services of consultants and 
technical advisors, for example legal services, the cost 
of which amounted to R1 814 874.00 for the financial 
year.

Inspections conducted

During the period March 2019 to February 2020 we 
have conducted 22 desktop and physical inspections. 
The inspections emanated from complaints and trust 
account inspections.

Fraud Hotline
 
The SABFS established a Fraud Hotline to help maintain 
the organisation’s culture of ethical behaviour. The 
hotline is aimed at enhancing an honest work ethic 
and simultaneously providing internal and external 
stakeholders with a mechanism to bring any unethical 
business practices to the attention of management. 

A few matters were reported on the Fraud Hotline 
number, but they were not related to fraud on the part 
of any person, but rather normal enquiries or complaints 
being lodged. These matters were therefore addressed 
as enquiries or complaints. No fraud-related matters 
have been lodged via the Hotline number during the 
financial year.

Staff meetings

Staff meetings are formal and limited to an hour. 
Managers alternate to chair these meetings. During the 
meetings each division highlights its key successes and 
challenges for the period. For the reporting period, eight 
meetings were conducted on the following dates;

• 8 March 2019
• 1 April 2019
• 10 May 2019
• 1 July 2019
• 19 July 2019
• 30 August 2019
• 6 December 2019
• 30 January 2020 

Appreciation

I thank the Board for its confidence in me to lead the 
office of the Board.

I also wish to thank the Chairperson of the Board, Mrs 
Charmaine Mabuza, for her guidance and support.

Mrs Jody van Wyk
Executive Manager
30 July 2020
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SABFS BOARD MEMBERS
as at 28 February 2019

Mrs Charmaine Mabuza
Chairperson

Mrs S MashabaMr I Klynsmith Ms A Ralehlaka

Ms A Singh

Ms K Sigenu

Mr P Mogale

Mr A Murugan

Ms M Lephadi Mr A Nkhumise

Mr M Magida
Deputy Chairperson

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mrs C Mabuza - Chairperson SABFS
Mr M Magida
Ms K Sigenu
Mr A Murugan
Mr I Klynsmith
Mr P Mogale
Ms M Lephadi

FINANCE COMMITTEE
Ms K Sigenu - Chairperson
Ms S Mashaba
Ms M Lephadi

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE
Mr A Murugan - Chairperson
Mr A Nkhumise
Ms A Ralehlaka

LEGAL COMMITTEE
Mr I Klynsmith - Chairperson
Mr P Mogale
Mr A Nkhumise
Ms A Singh

COMPLAINTS COMMITTEE
Mr P Mogale - Chairperson
Mr A Murugan
Mr I Klynsmith

FIDELITY FUND COMMITTEE
Ms M Lephadi - Chairperson
Ms S Mashaba
Mr A Murugan

HR AND COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE
Mr M Magida - Chairperson
Ms A Ralehlaka
Mr A Murugan

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
Mr G Cronje - Independent Chairperson
Mr M Magida
Ms K Sigenu

CONSULTATIVE FORUM
Mr M Magida - Chairperson

BANKING FORUM
Mr I Klynsmith

SASSETA
Ms M Lephadi
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GOVERNANCE AND 
LEGISLATIVE MANDATES
The SABFS is a regulatory statutory body established 
by the Minister in terms of Section 7 of the Sheriffs Act 
No 90 of 1986 (Sheriffs Act). The Sheriffs Act describes 
the objects of the SABFS as: ‘the maintenance of the 
esteem of, the enhancement of the status of, and the 
improvement of the standard of training of and functions 
performed by, sheriffs.’

Legislation affecting sheriffs is constantly changing.  
The SABFS spends a significant amount of time, effort 
and money in monitoring and reviewing these changes. 
Where necessary the SABFS employs the services of 
external legal experts to formulate opinions and assist 
with drafting recommendations for the Minister and 
the Rules Board for the Courts of Law. The following 
table outlines key legislation, reports and documents 
applicable to the work of the SABFS.

ENABLING LEGISLATION

Constitution

Core Purpose: The Bill of Rights of the Constitution provides an 
institutional framework for the SABFS to regulate the sheriffs’ 
profession in line with human rights for all.

Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 
Core Purpose: The Sheriffs Act guides the Board and sheriffs 
in respect of its rules and regulations.

Magistrates’ Courts Act 32 of 1944

Core Purpose: The Magistrates’ Courts Act deals with general 
directives to a sheriff and his or her duties when dealing with 
lower court matters.

Superior Courts Act 10 of 2013

Core Purpose: The Superior Courts Act deals with general 
directives to a sheriff and his or her duties when dealing with 
superior court matters.

Rules Board for Courts of Law Act 107 of 1985

Core Purpose: Members of the Rules Board for Courts of Law 
are appointed by the Minister and are responsible for court 
rules.

Code of Conduct for Sheriffs

Core Purpose: The Code of Conduct regulates the manner 
in which sheriffs perform their functions to ensure they are 
aware of their role within the justice system of South Africa.

King III & IV

Core Purpose: The principles of King III & IV are used by 
the Board to apply three key elements, namely leadership, 
sustainability and good corporate governance.

Annual Performance Plan

Core Purpose: The Annual Performance Plan contains the 
SABFS performance targets, commitments and measurement 
framework for the period under review.

Impact of COVID-19 on the sheriffs’ profession

The full impact of the pandemic on the sheriffs’ profession 
will only become known with time. However, the SABFS 
has risen to the occasion by providing sheriffs with 
tools such as circulars, updated regulations relevant to 
each level of the lockdown and a template COVID-19 
Workplace Policy, to enable the profession to function 
during this difficult time.

Some of the sheriff’s offices operate in economically 
depressed geographical areas and do not have access 
to the resources and infrastructure required to deal 
with the magnitude of the coronavirus pandemic. It is 
unfortunate that these offices, when affected by the 
virus, were unable to attend to their respective duties for 
an extended period. This will have major consequences 
for the continued existence of the affected offices. 

Sheriffs, as Officers of the Court, are required as their 
core function to interact face-to-face with members of 
the public including courts, for which all the precautions 
must be taken. 

The pandemic has and will, in some way or another, 
affect the sheriffs’ profession and all other stakeholders, 
including the legal practitioners, their staff, clients, 
service providers, the courts and all other aspects of the 
administration of justice and the civil service. Sheriffs 
cannot pursue their duties as a sheriff/deputy sheriff as 
if they are immune to being infected by the virus, or as if 
it will not affect the fulfilment of their duties.

From the outset we realised that the impact on the overall 
duties of sheriffs - such as the failing to serve and file a 
document at court - can have serious consequences for 
sheriffs and legal practitioners and their clients. Urgent 
services wherein the claim is prescribing can lead to 
damages, resulting in claims in substantial sums that 
could be claimed from the sheriff. 

Our suggested risk management measures

It became clear to the Board that a useful starting 
point for all sheriffs would be to get as much credible 
information as possible on the virus and its potential 
impact. All staff of their offices needed to be educated 
on the pandemic, the risks it poses and the measures 
that could be taken to avoid or mitigate the risk of 
infection. The Board suggested that the following 
measures be implemented to protect the workforce and 
to help ensure its continued productivity:
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1 Establish a strategy that enables employees to  
 continue to function without endangering them.
2 Have a plan to isolate employees should the threat  
 of possible infection arise.
3 Ensure employees can effectively work from home.
4 Verify that they have the tools, technology, capacity,  
 and security measures in place to support a large or  
 small remote workforce.
5 Review their HR policies to ensure employees will  
 not be personally impacted if they must be  
 quarantined for an extended period and modify  
 any policies as appropriate to give greater flexibility  
 to normal working arrangements.
6 Determine their priorities and the minimum staffing  
 requirements to support these priorities, in case  
 they need to function with a significantly reduced  
 workforce.
7 Identify key employees and ensure other staff  
 members have received appropriate training to  
 comprehensively cover their absence.
8 Create a communications plan that includes  
 providing employees and other stakeholders with  
 regular situation updates as well as actions taken.
9 Implement measures to ensure the safety of their  
 employees. What will they do if an employee or the  
 sheriff is infected by the virus? What measures are  
 in place for quarantining staff who may have been  
 exposed to the virus?

Further recommendations from the SABFS for sheriffs to 
consider, included the following: 

1 Promote awareness in the workplace, amongst  
 stakeholders and the general public, about the  
 coronavirus and its risks, and communicate  
 transparently and responsibly about the latest news  
 on the virus. For example, posters and other  
 marketing tools promoting hand washing could be  
 useful.
2 Implement a procedure to determine which  
 employees are infected (or at risk of infection) to  
 encourage employees to disclose: if they have any  
 symptoms indicative of the virus; whether they have  
 travelled to or intend travelling to affected areas;  
 and/or whether they have been in close contact  
 with anyone who they know has the virus or has  
 travelled to any affected areas.
3 Circulate a list of relevant contact details should an  
 employee get infected.
4 Advise all employees of the preventative measures  
 that they can practice on a daily basis. For example,  
 employees should: wash their hands frequently and  
 properly with soap for at least 20 seconds after  
 touching others or exposed surfaces; avoid  
 touching body orifices such as the mouth, eyes,  
 and nose; and ensure that any wounds or bites that  
 breach the skin barrier are covered to avoid ingress.

5 Ensure that the workplace is clean and hygienic, for  
 example regularly clean shared areas and place  
 hand sanitizers in shared places where access to  
 water and soap is unavailable.
6 Discourage or restrict personal and business travel  
 to any affected area until the virus has been  
 contained, alternatively advise employees and  
 contractors to obtain credible national travel advice  
 before travelling to affected areas. (This in itself  
 might have a huge impact on the income generated  
 by the sheriff’s office.)
7 Sheriffs would be well advised to direct ‘at risk’  
 employees to seek medical assistance immediately  
 and be tested for infection. (If they test positively it  
 is the responsibility of the relevant medical  
 professional or official to report the matter to the  
 National Institute of Communicable Diseases  
 (NICD).)
8 Advise employees who suspect that they may be  
 infected with the virus, or who have travelled to  
 affected areas, or who have been in close personal  
 contact with others who have travelled to affected  
 areas, to stay at home and isolate themselves until  
 they have been tested and, if ill, received medical  
 attention and recovered. 
9 If there are reported cases of the virus in the  
 workplace, immediately contact the Department of  
 Health or a known medical official to inform them  
 that their workplace has been compromised, so that  
 it can be reported to the NICD.

Ultimately, to manage the coronavirus epidemic 
effectively (in the workplace and in general) it is 
vital that sheriffs confront it head-on in a proactive, 
context-responsive and precautionary manner, while 
making an effort to contain its potential impact on 
their respective businesses.
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Sound corporate governance

The three pillars of corporate governance are: 
Transparency, accountability and security. All three are 
critical in successfully running a company or organisation 
and forming solid professional relationships among its 
partners, which include board members, managers, 
employees, and - most importantly - stakeholders.

The SABFS is established in terms of the Sheriffs 
Act 90 of 1986 and is a public body which exercises 
public functions as set out in the Sheriffs Act and other 
supporting legislation. The Board is aware that the 
purpose of corporate governance is to facilitate fairness, 
accountability, responsibility and transparency across 
the organisation. From a governance perspective, the 
overall intention of the SABFS is to ensure continuous 
performance improvement and adherence to all 
legislative requirements.

The Board has approved a Board Governance 
Framework and other corporate governance processes 
which protect the Board, executives and employees in 
fulfilling their duties and responsibilities and also instils 
stakeholder confidence. The Board members are also 
assisted by the Framework and processes to fulfil their 
fiduciary role towards the SABFS.

Risk management

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and 
for ensuring that there is an appropriate framework, 
policy and process for achieving this. The SABFS risk 
management system consists of a Risk Management 
Framework, a Risk Policy and a Terms of Reference 
for the Risk Management Committee. Together these 
contain the policies, strategies, processes, procedures 
and tools for identifying, measuring, monitoring, 
managing and reporting all material risks to which the 
SABFS is exposed.

The Enterprise-Wide Risk Management (ERM) 
Framework contains the key principles that guide the 
implementation of risk management at all levels. It 
provides the risk architecture and explains how risk 
management should be embedded in all business units 
to ensure that effective risk management strategies are 
integrated in all work contexts.

Risk management is therefore embedded in the daily 
practices and processes affecting sheriffs. There is a 
direct focus on managing the relationship between the 
risk and its impact on achieving the objectives set out in 
the SABFS’ Strategic Plan.

The SABFS recognises that Board members or 
officials may at times have interests that conflict with 
the exercise of their powers and functions. There are 
therefore appropriate structures in place for declarations 
of interest as part of each meeting procedure.

One of the Board meetings held during the financial year.

SOUND GOVERNANCE 
AT SABFS
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BOARD AND SUB COMMITTEE MEETINGS, REMUNERATION AND DISBURSEMENTS 
 
FINANCIAL YEAR 2020 
Board Remuneration for Annual Report   Meeting Attendance

  Board EXCO Audit 
& Risk Finance Cons. 

Forum
Com-

plaints FF Legal
Training 

and 
Dev.

HR and 
Com.

Com. 
Finance 
& Audit

Telecon Remuneration Disbursement

Mrs Mabuza 4 1          1 56,598 9,028

Adv Mohamed**          1   - -

Mr M Magida 4 1 3  4     4   125,360 8,768

Mr I Klynsmith 3 1   1 4  4    2 63,376 19,523

Mr A Murugan 4    1 4 5  3 4  4 137,840 30,663

Mr PC Mogale 3    1 4  4    2 66,144 7,652

Ms K Sigenu 4  4 3       1 3 99,392 13,829

Ms M Lephadi 4   3 1  4    1 4 104,592 12,211

Mr AK Nkumisi 4 1      4 3   2 69,120 10,591

Mrs A Ralehlaka 3        2 3  2 57,600 8,859

Ms A Singh** 2           2 - -

Mr L Mashapa** 1      1      - 866

Mrs S Mashapa** 3   3   3      - 417

Mr G Cronje*   4        1  - 38,981

780,022 161,298

* Independent Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee.

** These Board Members are not eligible for meeting allowances as Government employees.



2020 19

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT TO 
THE BOARD

The Audit and Risk Committee of the SABFS was 
established as an independent committee of the Board 
in the previous reporting period. The Committee is 
governed by a charter which contains its formal terms 
of reference.

We hereby present our report for the financial year ended 
29 February 2020.

Audit and Risk Committee members
and attendance

The Committee’s terms of reference require a minimum 
of three independent members and consists of the 
members listed below. During the period under review, 
three Audit Committee meetings and two special 
meetings were held.

The Auditor-General is invited to send representatives to 
the Audit and Risk Committee meetings, but they have 
not attended any meetings for the period. The Chair 
and Deputy Chairperson of the Board have a standing 
invitation to attend all Audit and Risk Committee 
meetings.

NAME OF MEMBER NO OF MEETINGS ATTENDED

Mr Cronje 4

Mrs Sigenu 4

Mr Magida 3

Audit and Risk Committee responsibility

The Committee reports that it has, as far as possible, 
complied with its responsibilities arising from its terms 
of reference, including relevant legislative requirements.

The Audit and Risk Committee has compiled an annual 
work plan that assists in carrying out its responsibilities. 
Quarterly reporting on the activities of the Audit and Risk 
Committee was presented to the Board.

Review and evaluation of the annual financial 
statements for the SABFS and Fidelity Fund

The Committee has:
• Reviewed and discussed the annual financial  
 statements of the SABFS and the Fidelity Fund  
 that are included in the Annual Report with the  
 Mazars auditors and management

 

• Reviewed the auditor’s management letter and  
 management’s responses to it

• Reviewed and discussed the report and audit  
 opinion of the auditor with the auditor and  
 management

• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and  
 practices

• Reviewed the SABFS’ compliance with legal and  
 regulatory provisions

The Committee is pleased that the auditor has issued 
an unqualified audit opinion on both the SABFS and 
the Fidelity Fund financial statements, for the year 
ended 29 February 2020. The Committee concurs with 
and accepts the auditor’s opinion regarding the annual 
financial statements and proposes that the audited 
annual financial statements be accepted and read 
together with the Auditor’s Report.

The Committee confirms the financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice.

Efficiency and effectiveness of internal control

The SABFS does not currently have an internal audit 
function. The Committee has recommended to the 
Board that an internal audit function be introduced, with 
future assurance being managed with the assistance of 
a Combined Assurance Plan.

Performance management

The Audit Committee oversees the performance 
reporting on the achievement of the strategic objectives 
of the SABFS. The Committee has reviewed and 
considered the Performance Reports as prepared by 
management and recommends same to the Board for 
approval.

Risk management

The SABFS has continued to enhance its enterprise 
wide risk management in the period.  The Committee 
oversaw the activities of the SABFS Risk Management 
Committee. The SABFS subjected its risk management 
process to an independent benchmarking and is in the 
process of implementing the various recommendations 
for improvement.



    

Governance

The Board has formally adopted the principles of the 
King IV report on corporate governance. The Committee 
continues to monitor key SABFS governance 
interventions. The Committee continues to review the 
development of the SABFS Combined Assurance Plan 
to ensure that all significant risks are addressed to the 
satisfaction of the Board.

Conclusion

The Committee is very pleased with the progress made 
by the SABFS during the financial year in all the areas 
outlined in this report.

The Committee wishes to express its appreciation to the 
management of the SABFS and to the external auditors, 
Mazars, who enabled the Committee to perform its 
function as set out in the Audit Charter.

GREGORY CRONJE
Independent Chairperson of the Audit and Risk 
Committee
30 June 2020
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STATEMENT OF
RESPONSIBILITY
Statement of responsibility for performance 
information for the year ended 29 February 2020

The Executive Manager is responsible for the preparation 
of the performance information of the SABFS as a public 
entity and for the judgements made in this information.

The Executive Manager is responsible for establishing 
and implementing a system of controls designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of the performance information.

In my opinion, the performance information fairly reflects 
the actual achievements against planned objectives, 
indicators and targets as per the Strategic and Annual 
Performance Plan of the SABFS for the financial year 
ended 29 February 2020.

The performance information of the SABFS is set out in 
the Annual Report and was approved by the Board.

Mrs Jody van Wyk
Executive Manager
30 July 2020

OVERVIEW OF
ORGANISATION’S
PERFORMANCE
Service delivery environment

The SABFS’ primary function is one of exercising 
oversight of the sheriffs’ profession. It ensures that 
their duties and responsibilities are completed in the 
prescribed manner and deals with complaints when this 
does not occur.  At the heart of this function is the SABFS’ 
authority to issue or withhold Fidelity Fund Certificates. 
In order for a sheriff to receive this Certificate there are a 
number of conditions that have to be met, and a sheriff 
is prohibited from operating without a valid Fidelity Fund 
Certificate.

The SABFS also interacts with various stakeholders to 
forge strategic partnerships to enhance and maintain 
its relevance in its statutory sphere. It participates in 
and contributes to a number of government-related 
initiatives, such as the redetermination of sheriffs’ 
service areas and point-to-point descriptions of them.

Sheriffs perform their duties in line with the Code of 
Conduct and Pledge for Sheriffs and are encouraged to 
uphold the dignity of those they serve.

Strategic outcome-oriented goals

What follows is qualitative information on the 
performance in respect of achieving stated objectives 
which are detailed in five different programmes. 
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The goal of this programme is to enforce compliance, by the sheriffs, with the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 (as amended) 
and subordinate legislation governing sheriffs. This is performed through regulating and promoting the standard of 
conduct of sheriffs and deputy sheriffs, having due regard for the interests of the public.

Objectives:

• Provide high quality registration and renewal services
• Ensure compliance with legal obligations
• Define and monitor compliance with minimum professional standards for sheriffs

Registration of sheriffs and deputy sheriffs

The tables below provide registration information and demographics of sheriffs for 2019 and 2020.

PROGRAMME 1: COMPLIANCE

SHERIFFS STATS FROM 1 MARCH 2019 TO 29 FEBRUARY 2020

Province Total

Race and Gender

White African Indian Coloured

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

Eastern Cape 39 7 1 18 9 0 0 2 2

Free State 21 7 6 6 1 1 0 0 0

Gauteng 41 10 5 6 9 9 2 0 0

KwaZulu Natal 34 4 3 14 6 6 0 0 1

Limpopo 23 5 2 13 3 0 0 0 0

Mpumalanga 23 6 1 7 6 1 0 2 0

North West 20 7 1 5 4 0 1 1 1

Northern Cape 13 4 3 3 1 1 0 0 1

Western Cape 41 13 5 6 2 4 1 5 5

Total 255 63 27 78 41 22 4 10 10

255

GENDER RACE

32.20%
Female

67.80%
Male

7.84%

10.19%

46.67%

35.30%

Indian

African

White

Coloured



2020 24

DEPUTY SHERIFFS STATS FROM 1 MARCH 2019 TO 29 FEBRUARY 2020

Province Total

Race and Gender

White African Indian Coloured

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

Eastern Cape 71 10 6 37 8 0 0 8 2

Free State 54 26 5 19 2 0 0 2 0

Gauteng 214 82 25 72 12 8 1 11 3

KwaZulu Natal 94 12 9 38 3 23 4 4 1

Limpopo 44 10 3 26 5 0 0 0 0

Mpumalanga 61 17 7 26 6 0 1 3 1

North West 45 9 2 22 6 1 0 5 0

Northern Cape 35 8 4 10 0 0 0 11 2

Western Cape 122 36 6 11 4 3 0 45 17

Total 740 210 67 261 46 35 6 89 26

740

The table below provides registration information and demographics of deputy sheriffs for 2019 and 2020.

ACTING SHERIFFS STATS FROM 1 MARCH 2019 TO 29 FEBRUARY 2020

Province Total

Race and Gender

White African Indian Coloured

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

Eastern Cape 3 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0

Free State 3 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Gauteng 3 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0

KwaZulu Natal 4 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 0

Limpopo 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mpumalanga 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

North West 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Northern Cape 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Western Cape 3 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0

Total 18 3 5 3 2 1 1 2 1

18

The table below provides registration information and demographics of acting sheriffs for 2019 and 2020.
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REGIONAL COORDINATING COMMITTEE (RCC) – THE 
RATIONALISATION OF MAGISTERIAL DISTRICTS

The Court Rationalisation Process is a policy that aims to 
redress the inequitable and racially biased locality of courts 
and demarcation of magisterial district boundaries under 
the pre-1994 political dispensation. It is premised on the 
constitutional imperative of access to justice as expressed 
in Section 34 of the Constitution. 

The ultimate goal is for the sheriffs’ service area boundaries 
to align as far as possible to the rationalised Magisterial 
District boundaries, with a view to enhancing access to 
justice for the communities that are being served. It is 
important that the maps and point-to-point descriptions 
in respect of the sheriffs’ service areas be based on the 
outcomes of consultation with the affected sheriffs.  The 
complexity of re-configuring the geo-political landscape 
of the rationalisation process is a real challenge for 
stakeholders. For example, to draft the Eastern Cape 
point-to-point descriptions is problematic, due to limited 
cadastral data of the former Ciskei and Transkei. Areas 
that were affected by previous so-called ‘Homeland’ 
boundaries further complicate the demarcation process. 

The following points are of importance:

1 The Task Team consists of Messrs V Weitz, M Moagi  
 and V Knoop who have been appointed till end  
 September 2020. The National Steering Committee,  

 consisting of Adv JB Skosana, Adv B Williams, Mrs C  
 Mabuza, Mrs A Singh and Mr P Mthimunye, has  
 oversight of the project and reports to the Deputy  
 Minister. 
2 Negotiations with sheriffs in respect of delineating  
 sheriffs’ service areas have been very successful,  
 partly due to the office of the Board encouraging the  
 presence and participation of the relevant sheriffs. 
3 The information gathered from the RCC process adds  
 value to the development and accuracy of the sheriffs’  
 service area/s database of the Board. 
4 The Board’s representative attended and consulted  
 with:
  • The National Task Team on the demarcation  
  intervention processes in the nine provinces, as  
  well as reporting to the Board, the Consultative  
  Forum of sheriffs and the Deputy Minister

  • Sheriffs in Gauteng

  • Sheriffs in the North West Province 

 • RCC structures in Mpumalanga, KwaZulu Natal,  
  Eastern Cape and the Western Cape
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The goal of this programme is to improve the financial performance of the Fidelity Fund through effective management 
of the Fund. The SABFS has appointed a Fidelity Fund Committee to oversee the activities of the Fund.

Objectives:

• Improve the financial performance of the Fidelity Fund
• Process claims effectively and efficiently
• Reduce claims against the Fidelity Fund
• Establish a permanent unit for the administration of unclaimed trust funds and for Small Claims Court financial  
 assistance

The Fidelity Fund is established in terms of Section 26 of the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986. Its primary function is to serve 
as a source of revenue to compensate those who have suffered any prejudice as a result of misconduct or omissions 
by a sheriff.

The monies accrued in the Fund are housed in various investments, with the capital guaranteed and the interest 
reinvested into the Fund. Interest earned by sheriffs on their respective trust funds is forwarded to the SABFS as a 
contribution to the Fidelity Fund.

Claims against the Fidelity Fund

The table below provides a historical analysis for claims processing for the period. The age analysis of the period between 
approval and payment is within acceptable norms given the period required to finalise all the administrative arrangements. 
The main reason for pending claims is to give the claimant an opportunity to recover from the sheriff in terms of civil 
processes.

Claims processing

PROGRAMME 2: FIDELITY FUND

YEAR 
CLAIM 

LODGED

TOTAL NO 
OF CLAIMS 
RECEIVED 

PER 
FINANCIAL 

YEAR

TOTAL VALUE OF 
CLAIMS RECEIVED 

PER FINANCIAL 
YEAR (R)

*CUMULATIVE 
TOTAL VALUE 
OF CLAIMS 

STILL PENDING 
AND NOT YET 
APPROVED (R)

**CUMULATIVE 
TOTAL VALUE 
OF CLAIMS 

APPROVED BUT 
NOT YET PAID (R) 

TOTAL
CLAIMS
PAID (R)

TOTAL
CLAIMS

REJECTED (R)

2012/13 9 490,073.93 12,833,023.99 0.00 1,142,527.29 0.00

2013/14 18 7,358,148.16 7,654,490.00 932,082.16 6,398,892.34 6,137,788.95

2014/15 23 3,274,821.42 5,479,591.93 641,422.16 1,859,169.49 3,590,550.00

2015/16 13 3,487,330.58 8,668,136.33 1,553,700.68 559,673.93 1,515,471.00

2016/17 71 15,584,513.73 19,536,712.17 1,358,860.68 2,000.00 1,560,058.10

2017/18 84 21,633,116.40 28,902,703.14 1,373,549.72 993,377.02 6,716,495.59

2018/19 107 16,184,541.68 27,817,024.00 1,542,002.92 595,588.00 5,527,137.01

2019/20 34 21,299,214.24 30,768,781.00 2,172,577.86 11,448,140.24 8,206,074.35

Total (R) 359 89,311,760.14 N/A N/A 23,014,057.35 33,253,575.00

* The cumulative amount is the amount of claims still pending as at 28 February each year and it includes any claims not approved nor paid from previous years.

**The cumulative amount is the amount of approved claims as at 29 February, but not yet paid and it includes any claims not approved nor paid from previous years.
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The goal of this programme is to build capacity and professionalise the work and image of sheriffs.

This is performed by increasing stakeholder awareness of the sheriffs’ role, providing training opportunities for the 
profession, as well as undertaking public relations and marketing activities.

Objectives:

• Provide education and training for sheriffs and deputy sheriffs and their office staff
• Increase the visibility of the Board and the sheriffs’ profession

Newsletters

The Siyanazisa newsletters are issued quarterly and distributed nationally to all sheriffs and SABFS stakeholders. 

PROGRAMME 3: ENHANCING THE SHERIFFS’ PROFESSION
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Mr Nicholas Nxumalo, the Sheriff 
for Pinetown and his staff spent 
World Sheriffs Day at the Pinetown 
Magistrates Court in KwaZulu Natal, 
where they handed out 500 food 
parcels and juice to members of the 
public.

World Sheriffs Day 2019 

The 12th World Sheriff’s Day was celebrated on 13 June 2019. The 
theme chosen this financial year by the International Union of Judicial 
Officers (UIHJ) was ‘The Sheriff Meets the Youth.’ The aim is to assist 
the public to understand the role of the sheriff. 

The Sheriff for Wynberg East, Mrs Georgina Naidoo and her office staff spent 
World Sheriffs Day visiting the Saartjie Baartman Centre for Women and 
Children in Manenberg, Cape Town. Mrs Naidoo (far left) said after visiting 
the Centre a few times, they realised the Centre’s need for medical supplies. 
The office donated an oxygen cylinder, scale, bandages and surgical gloves, 
among others. They also donated an “I Am Beautiful Hamper” to all the 
women at the Centre, which consisted of a make-up set, a scarf/head band 
and perfume.

Mr Llewellyn Sharp, the Sheriff for Port Elizabeth North and his staff spent World Sheriffs Day handing out chips, juice and pamphlets to 515 learners and 
17 teachers at Piet Retief Primary School in Sidwel, Port Elizabeth. The teachers also received branded pens. Furthermore, Mr Sharp’s office also donated 
animal food to the Animal Welfare Society in Port Elizabeth.

The Sheriff for Uitenhage, Mr Alfred Sigele, assisted a family in need for World Sheriffs Day. 
He delivered groceries, vegetables and school shoes to the family, which was identified by a 
social worker at their local Welfare Office. The children are being raised by their grandmother 
and are in a daily struggle for survival.
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Lucinda Delport, Andiswa Makanda, Matthew Compton and Precious 
Nzimande hand over toiletry packs to the principal (centre) of Tembaletu 
School for Differently Abled Kids, Mr Msthazo. 

The children at the school were overwhelmed with happiness to receive a 
toiletry pack.

The teachers and principal of Tembaletu School for Differently Abled Kids 
with SABFS staff.

Mandela Day

The SABFS made a difference in the lives of children at the Tembaletu School for learners with special educational needs 
in Gugulethu. In celebrating the life of the former South African President, struggle stalwart and icon, Nelson Rolihlahla 
Mandela, the SABFS office donated toiletry packs to underprivileged girls and boys at the Tembaletu School.

Social Media

During the reporting period the SABFS has posted limited information on Twitter and Facebook. However, we continued 
to communicate with the public on these platforms to address their questions and further needs. The most effective 
communication platform between the Board and sheriffs still remains SMS. 

TOTAL POST REACH
14 471

NUMBER OF TIMES STAKEHOLDERS 
ENGAGED CONTENT
3 151

TOTAL POST REACH
24 839

NUMBER OF TIMES STAKEHOLDERS 
ENGAGED CONTENT

679



Celebrating Women’s Month 

profession and that the Board has now developed a Training Programme to mentor new sheriffs entering the profession. 
Mrs Mabuza encouraged sheriffs to lead by example by uplifting women in their own offices. 

Radio campaign 
 
A six-week national community radio station campaign was launched on 1 September 2019 and ran until 11 October 2019 
in all nine provinces. The SABFS previously produced and paid for four generic 30-second promotional sheriff’s adverts, 
in four different languages, which was used for the duration of the campaign. The total reach for the campaign throughout 
the country was 2 920 000. 

As added value, we secured telephone interviews on 14 radio stations. Mr Allan Murugan and Mr Andrew Nkhumise, were 
interviewed, representing the SABFS.

Stakeholder roadshows

The SABFS hosted a Stakeholder Roadshow on Wednesday 26 June 2019 at the Southern Sun, OR Tambo Airport in 
Johannesburg, as well as in KwaZulu Natal on 30 September 2019 at the Fire and Ice Protea Hotel in Umhlanga.  

2020 30

‘Our inner power… our legacy…’ 
That was the gallant statement which united the women in 
the sheriffs’ profession on the 23rd August 2019 as they 
joined the nation in celebrating women’s month, in what was 
a spectacular luncheon held at Leriba lodge in Centurion, 
Pretoria. 

The Chairperson of the SABFS, Mrs Charmaine Mabuza (on 
the right) attended the luncheon and shared her experience as 
the first African woman sheriff to be appointed. She highlighted 
amongst others that it was not only difficult to be appointed as 
a sheriff, but that once appointed, she had to learn the ropes 
with very little or no support. In her speech she indicated that   
great strides have been made in the transformation of the  
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SABFS Roadshow

The SABFS hosted a Stakeholder Roadshow on Monday, 3 September 2019 at 
the Fire and Ice Hotel in Uhmhlanga, KZN.

The purpose of the Board’s roadshows is to strengthen relationships with key 
stakeholders and to discuss challenges that sheriffs are facing.

In turn, the stakeholders receive the opportunity to share their organisational 
needs with us.
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TRAINING OF SHERIFFS AND DEPUTY SHERIFFS 

Sheriff’s Guide: Practice and Procedure

The Sheriff’s Guide publication has been updated by 
the commissioned author, Mr Harry van Nieuwenhuizen 
Sheriff for Witbank, with input from the Sheriff’s Guide 
Reference Group. Pictured here is the group developing 
updates in Johannesburg on Thursday 25 April 2019. 

Two new members were added to the Reference Group, with Mr Johan 
Fourie and Mr Andy Adimoolum being current, and Mrs Shirley Thoke 
and Mr Ashraf Dawood new members.

Assistance Programme for Sheriffs (APS)

The Board is committed to assisting individual sheriffs 
experiencing difficulties in providing an efficient service 
to the public, the courts and the legal profession.  

For the reporting year, the SABFS assisted five sheriffs 
by seconding experienced facilitators/practicing sheriffs 
to their offices for up to three days, to assist them and 
their staff. 

The key aim of the APS, which is preventative by nature, 
is to identify skills and knowledge gaps of sheriffs who 
face professional challenges and to intervene with 
appropriate remedial action.

This programme should not be seen as a punitive 
measure, but rather as an approach to assisting sheriffs 
and their office.

Sheriffs Introductory Course (SIC) 2019 and 2020

This past financial year (2019 and 2020) the Training 
& Communications Division conducted two SIC 
programmes. The first intake consisted of eight newly 
appointed sheriffs and the most recent course totaled 
103 learners, which was subsidised by SASSETA. 

Only eight sheriffs participated in our 2019 SIC, as the 
majority of appointed sheriffs qualified for exemption 
from doing this course. 

Breakdown of SIC participants, over two intakes, for 
the full financial year in terms of race and gender: 

RACE NUMBER OF 
PARTICIPANTS PERCENTAGE

African 62 56%

Coloured 12 11%

Indian 11 10%

White 26 23%

Total 111 100%

GENDER Male 48 (43%) Female 63 (57%)

SIC 2019 in Pretoria

SIC 2020 in Port Elizabeth

SIC 2020 in Cape Town
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NEEDS BASED TRAINING (NBT) 2019

Keeping the sheriffs conversant with new developments 
in the profession

The Needs Based Training targets sheriffs, deputies 
and key office personnel to enhance their capability to 
discharge responsibilities and duties in an effective and 
efficient fashion. This past year’s programme enabled 
the recruitment of six additional trainee facilitators.

What follows is merely a synopsis of our engagement 
with the sheriffs’ profession in the nine provinces in 
terms of the main focus of the programme and the 
results of the evaluation surveys at a national level. 
The overall conclusion is that the training intervention 
was highly successful. According to the attendance 
registers, a total of 357 learners were present at the 
training sessions.

The NBT material was developed and spearheaded 
by the Chairperson of the Training and Development 
Committee of the Board, Mr Allan Murugan, who made 
use of a range of resources. The learning areas were:
 
• Section 65 Magistrates Courts Act 32 of 1944 -  
 Procedure and warrant of arrest
• Section 72 Magistrates Courts Act 32 of 1944 -  
 Garnishees and emoluments attachment orders  
 (EAO)
• High Court Rules, Rule 45(12)(a) of Act 59 of 1959 -  
 Attaching funds held by a garnishee
• Charging of fees as prescribed by the Minister of  
 Justice and Correctional Services
• Section 22 of the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986 (as  
 amended) – Administration of trust accounts
• Amendment to the Labour Relations Amendment  
 Act 6 of 2014 and the execution of enforcement  
 awards

Comments from the participants were generally very 
favourable, such as:

• The training sessions conducted were excellent,  
 well done facilitation team - Polokwane
• Thank you, the training was lovely, keep the NBT  
 going, at least twice a year per province -  
 Mpumalanga
• It is great to share information with a full house of  
 participants - Free State
• All the topics were well covered and a manual was  
 provided for further study - Eastern Cape
• It was a good experience to share and compare  
 notes and information with other offices - Western  
 Cape
• We need more of these events. I enjoyed every  
 session presented - Gauteng
• Very good facilitators. Training should happen  
 quarterly – KwaZulu Natal
• I thank the Board for the training - North West 
• Thank you. More training - Northern Cape 

Limpopo

Mpumalanga

Western Cape

Eastern Cape



Audit and risk

The Board established an Audit and Risk Committee 
with an independent chairperson. This Committee was 
fully functional for the year under review.

Procurement

During the current year the SABFS procured its goods 
and services from suppliers in a manner that complied 
with the requirements of the SABFS Supply Chain 
Management Policy. This policy has been reviewed and 
updated. 

Fraud Hotline

The SABFS established a Fraud Hotline to help maintain 
the culture of ethical behaviour in the organisation. The 
Hotline is aimed at enhancing an honest work ethic and 
at providing internal and external stakeholders with a 
mechanism to bring any unethical business practices to 
the attention of management.

The Hotline is administered by KPMG. For the period 
between March 2019 and February 2020 the Hotline 
received 32 calls. The complaints included, among 
others, varying levels of misconduct on the part of 
sheriffs. No fraud related matters have been reported on 
the Fraud Hotline.

Income revenue

The SABFS does not receive any funding from the 
Department of Justice and Constitutional Development. 
Revenue is generated from the sheriffs’ profession via 
a 1,5% levy on the gross income of sheriffs. Further 
to the levy, an administration fee is received from the 
Fidelity Fund and from other smaller revenue generating 
services.

The Fidelity Fund generates its revenue from interest 
earned on the trust accounts of sheriffs, as well as from 
investment income from its monies invested in line with 
the Sheriffs Act.

Risks

The SABFS and the Fidelity Fund are continually exposed 
to various risks. These risks are therefore diligently 
managed by the SABFS through the implementation 
of its risk policies. Risks are also reported to the Audit 
and Risk Committee and all identified risks are properly 
managed. 

From time to time the Board requires the services of 
technical experts/advisors to assist with the execution 
of its duties. During the financial year, the Board incurred 
costs for additional services from various service 
providers, as listed in the table that follows

The goal of this programme is to improve compliance with legal requirements and good governance principles to 
increase stakeholder trust.

Objectives:
• Maintain and adhere to the highest corporate governance standards
• Maintain ERM (Enterprise Wide Risk Management)
• Define stakeholder management for the sheriffs and the Board
• Determine the level of involvement of the Board in the appointment of deputy sheriffs
• Attract and retain highly competent and skilled individuals to ensure a culture of high performance at the office of the  
 Board
• Achieve and maintain financial sustainability

PROGRAMME 4: GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE SUPPORT SERVICES
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COST OF CONSULTANTS AND TECHNICAL ADVISORS - SABFS’ main service providers are listed below:

CONSULTANTS AND TECHNICAL 
ADVISORS SERVICE COST FOR

2019/20
COST FOR
2018/19

SNG Gobodo Inc Provide outsourced External auditors                      -   126,545

Mazars Provide outsourced External auditors            365,457 -

Hugo and Ngwenya Attorneys Provide outsourced Legal services              61,077 -

TNK Attorneys Provide outsourced Legal services              99,291 180,765

Frangfutti Provide outsourced Risk Management Services  - 111,000

Gravett Schoeman Inc Provide outsourced Legal services            117,232 108,211

Herold Gie Provide outsourced Legal services            227,334 952,189

Goodes and Sedat Provide outsourced Legal services            192,231 131,851

Leso Attorneys Provide outsourced Legal services            102,132 -

Motimele Masete Inc Provide outsourced Legal services                      -   30,825

Mediate Works Inc Provide outsourced Legal services                      -   11,500

MacRobert Inc Provide outsourced Legal services            623,914 211,187

IAC Provide outsourced Actuarial services              26,206 393,703

       1,814,874 2,313,340
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Human resource oversight statistics

The office operates as four divisions, each with a clear 
line of authority and reporting. They in turn support the 
Board - which has established six committees - to carry 
out their functions.

The office of the Board’s day-to-day functions are 
carried out by a dedicated team of professionals under 
the guidance of an Executive Manager. NEHAWU is the 
representative union and the SABFS has entered into a 
recognition agreement with them.

The office of the Board has an administrative staff of 
36 approved and funded posts as at 29 February 2020. 
Of the 36 posts, five were vacant. However, 15 persons 
were contracted during the reporting period to ensure 
maximum productivity and an additional four persons 
that are based at the Department of Justice (DOJCD 
MOU Contract – RCC). 

Staff movement

• 12 permanent appointments were made during the  
 period under review:

• Mr Andrew Simon commenced as the Acting  

• Executive Manager as from 28 June 2019 to 
 31 March 2020
• Ms A Makanda was moved from the Receptionist  
 position to the Finance Administrator position in  
 August 2019
• Mrs C Fortuin (Finance Officer) - contract  
 terminated in December 2019
• Ms L Ncipa (Debtors Clerk) resigned in October 2019
• Mr L Ntlele (Debtors Clerk) resigned in February 2020

Employee costs

Employee cost for the period amounted to R11.5 million 
(2019: R10.7 million). The Board approved a 5.5% 
increase for staff and management in March 2019.

Medical aid scheme

The Board have appointed a new broker, SEED Benefit 
Consulting CC, who will be the liaison between the 
SABFS and Discovery Health.

Retirement Fund

The Board is a Participating Employer under the Sanlam 
Umbrella Pension Fund which provides retirement 
benefits for its staff members. The risk benefits are 
provided under a separate risk scheme also underwritten 
by Sanlam. SEED Benefit Consulting CC provides the 
required intermediary and consulting services for the 
employer and staff members alike.

Performance management

The organisation has a performance management 
system in place which is regulated by a performance 
management policy. The performance management 
policy makes provision for performance incentives to be 
paid to deserving staff members who have performed 
consistently well throughout the year.

For the year under review, 20 staff members were 
awarded performance incentives to the total value of 
R308 234.59.

STAFF COMPLEMENT AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2020
MANAGEMENT STAFF

TOTAL
MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE

African 0 0 6 10 16
Coloured 3 0 6 10 19

Indian 0 1 1 1 3

White 0 0 2 0 2

Total 3 1 15 21 40

Permanent Staff 29

Contract Staff 6

RCC MOU Contract Staff 5

Total 40

POSITION START DATE

Executive Manager 1 April 2019

Finance Administrator 19 August 2019

Claim Specialist 12 August 2019

Complaints Investigation Officer 08 July 2019

Creditors Clerk 02 September 2019

Financial Accountant 02 September 2019

Data Capturer 02 September 2019

Unclaimed Trust Fund 
Administrator

19 August 2019

Manager: Human Resources & 
Auxiliary Services

13 November 2019

HR Officer 19 September 2019

Debtors Clerk 1 August 2019

 Debtors Clerk 2 December 2019



Staff training and development

Annually the staff and managers of SABFS prepare 
individual learning plans for each staff member guided by 
the requirements of their position, and the development 
needs of the staff member and the organisation.

The interventions consisted of funding bursaries to 
complete degrees and diplomas, as well as short 
skills programmes and internal training initiatives. In 
the reporting period, the Board spent R221 007.06 on 
training its staff.

NO TYPE OF TRAINING COST

1 Individuals sessions 115,542.66

2 Group sessions 38,725.68

3 In-house sessions 16,738.72

4 OHS sessions 50,000.00

TOTAL  221,007.06 

Disciplinary action taken against staff

The Board had no reason to take disciplinary action 
against any staff members during the financial year.

Occupational health and safety

The OHS Committee had no incidents to report during 
the financial year.
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Complaints against sheriffs and deputy sheriffs

Enquiries 
Enquiries are dealt with in writing by the legal division. 
The Legal Manager’s focus area has been on enquiries 
and formal complaints. 

When an enquiry is serious and needs to be escalated, 
the complainant is required to submit an affidavit. A 
total of 926 enquiries have been received for the period 
March 2019 to February 2020. 

MONTH
TOTAL 
ENQUIRIES 
RECEIVED

TOTAL 
ENQUIRIES 
CLOSED

March 2019 68 68

April 2019 65 65

May 2019 54 54

June 2019 59 59

July 2019 78 78

August 2019 86 86

September 2019 67 67

October 2019 122 122

November 2019 67 67

December 2019 67 67

January 2020 71 71

February 2020 122 122

TOTAL 926 926

Formal complaints
Formal complaints are dealt with in the form of an 
affidavit submitted by a complainant. Where the matter 
is not serious and can be resolved between the parties, 
it is dealt with as an informal complaint first.

A total of 635 formal complaints have been received 
by the Board for the period March 2019 until February 
2020. 594 of these complaints have been resolved. The 
following statistics indicate the number of complaints 
received, resolved and still pending.

Note that there is always a gap between the time when 
the formal complaint is received and when it is resolved, 
and not all formal complaints are resolved in the same 
month that they are dealt with.

MONTH
TOTAL 
COMPLAINTS 
RECEIVED

TOTAL 
COMPLAINTS 
CLOSED

March 2019 44 44

April 2019 49 47

May 2019 47 41

June 2019 35 33

July 2019 48 47

August 2019 67 66

September 2019 56 52

October 2019 55 53

November 2019 53 49

December 2019 86 85

January 2020 51 41

February 2020 44 36

TOTAL 635 594

Civil matters against sheriffs, instituted 
by the SABFS

In the interests of the public and the Fidelity Fund, 
the Board, where it deems necessary, institutes legal 
proceedings against a sheriff for the freezing of their 
trust and/or business account.

In 2019, the Board instituted four such applications, of 
which one was closed due to the sheriff having resigned 
and three others are still pending.

Criminal matters

There have been three criminal cases opened against 
sheriffs of which all are still ongoing.

The goal of this programme is to improve compliance with legal requirements and to regulate the sheriffs’ profession 
by conducting inspections and implementing disciplinary procedures against transgressing sheriffs.

Objectives:
• Conduct research and prepare new and amended legislation
• Conduct advocacy and lobbying on behalf of the sheriffs’ profession
• Conduct investigations and implement disciplinary processes
• Conduct inspections

The standard procedure for lodging a complaint requires the complainant to complete a Form 3 complaint affidavit 
and submit it to the Board via the contacts@sheriffs.org.za email address. Other complaints received are registered 
as an enquiry, with enquiries dispensed with more swiftly.

PROGRAMME 5: LEGAL



Disciplinary hearings

Four disciplinary hearings were part heard for the period 
March 2019 to February 2020 encompassing complaints, 
technical charges and trust account shortages.

Appeals considered by the Board

Internal Appeals
Two internal appeals have been heard by the Board for 
the period March 2019 to February 2020.

External Appeals
No external appeals were heard for the period March 
2019 to February 2020.

Other matters dealt with by the Board

Removal of Sheriffs
No sheriffs were removed for the period March 2019 to 
February 2020.

Consultative Forum

The Consultative Forum comprises members from 
the two sheriffs’ associations, members of the Board, 
stakeholders from a broad range of sectors, as well as 
being assisted by management from the Board. The 
Consultative Forum is a platform where a wide range of 
issues affecting sheriffs are discussed.

The scope of the Forum includes:

• Consulting and advising on legislative and policy  
 matters proposed by the Board, the two sheriffs’  
 organisations and any other interested body

• Ensuring the inputs of the sheriffs’ profession are  
 discussed and debated
• Considering input on transformation within the  
 profession
• Consulting and engaging on any matter affecting  
 the profession
• Forwarding the Forum’s recommendations to the  
 Board for consideration

For the financial year the Consultative Forum met on the 
following dates:

• 19 June 2019
• 20 September 2019
• 22 November 2019
• 20 February 2020

The purpose of the Consultative Forum is to create 
a platform for the Board and sheriffs voluntary 
organisations to consult on industry related matters, 
such as, but not limited to:

• Insurance Service Provider
• Form 16
• Point-to-point description and sheriffs’ offices
• Tax invoices on levy payments
• Non-payment of sheriffs’ accounts by attorneys
• Number of transactions - Audit Exemption Form  
 Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) from the  
 Department of Labour
• e – Justice project 
• Impact on Amendments of Rule 43 and Rule 46  
 CCMA Enforcement awards and interpleaders and  
 payment of accounts by CCMA.
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STATEMENT OF BOARD’S 
RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL
The Board is required by the Sheriffs Act no. 90 of 
1986, to maintain adequate accounting records and is 
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual 
financial statements and related financial information 
included in this report. It is the responsibility of the 
Board to ensure that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the 
end of the financial year and the results of its operations 
and cash flows for the period then ended. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion 
on the annual financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related 
data.

The annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied 
and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates. The Board acknowledges that it is 
ultimately responsible for the system of internal 
financial control established by the entity and place 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the Board to meet these 
responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a 
cost effective manner. The standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable 
level of risk.  These controls are monitored throughout 
the entity and all employees are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s 
business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk 
management in the entity is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known risks to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The members are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast 
for the year to 28 February 2021 and, in the light of this 
review and the current financial position, it is satisfied 
that the entity has or has access to adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future.  The annual financial statements are prepared on 
the basis that the entity is a going concern and that the 
Board has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate 
or curtail materially the scale of the entity.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
examined by the entity’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on page 46 to 48.

The annual financial statements and supplementary 
information set out on pages 49 to 75, which have been 
prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the Board on 30 June 2020 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

________________________________________

Mrs. C Mabuza
(Chairperson of the Board)

________________________________________

Ms. K Sigenu
(Chairperson: Finance Committee)

________________________________________

Mrs. J Van Wyk 
(Executive Manager)
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services

Report on the Audit of the Annual Financial
Statements

Financial Statements Opinion

We have audited the annual financial statements of the 
South African Board for Sheriffs set out on pages 50 to 
73, which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at 29 February 2020, and the statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, 
statement of cash flows and statement of comparison 
of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, 
and notes to the annual financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
South African Board for Sheriffs as at 29 February 2020, 
and its financial performance and its cash flows and 
statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts 
for the year then ended in accordance with the South 
African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP) and the requirements of the Sheriffs 
Act, No.90 of 1986.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the company in accordance with the sections 290 
and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered 
Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of 
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised 
November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, 
in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent 
with the corresponding sections of the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants and the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including  

International Independence Standards) respectively. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Emphasis of Matter - impact of the outbreak of 
COVID-19 on the financial statements

In forming our opinion on the annual financial statements, 
which is not modified, we draw your attention to the 
board members view on the impact of the COVID-19 as 
disclosed on page 49, and the consideration on going 
concern and non-adjusting post balance sheet events 
on pages 69 and 70.

Since the balance sheet date, the company has 
assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the annual financial 
statements and considered the potential impact on 
the business. The current lockdown, based on current 
procedures and exemptions in place, is not expected 
to have a material financial impact on the company. 
The notes referred to elaborate on the board members’ 
determination as to why COVID- 19 is not considered an 
adjusting subsequent event.

Management will continue to assess the financial impact 
of COVID-19 and its impact on the company financial 
condition, liquidity, operations, industry and workforce, 
while placing the health and safety of its employees first.

Key Audit Matters

The key audit matters section is mandatory for all audits 
of complete sets of general purpose annual financial 
statements of listed entities; as well as where the auditor 
is required by law or regulation to communicate these 
matters.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. All key audit matters 
relate to the annual financial statements.

Other information

The Members of the Board are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the Board 
Member’s Report and the supplementary information. 
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The other information does not form part of the annual 
financial statements and we do not express an opinion 
thereon in our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board Members for the 
Annual Financial Statements

The Members of the Board are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the South African 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practices and the 
requirements of the Sheriffs Act, No. 90 of 1986, as 
amended, and the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 
of 2004), and for such internal control as the members 
of the board determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is 
responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the members either intend 
to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
Annual Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement  
 of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or  
 error, design and perform audit procedures  
 responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence  
 that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis  
 for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material  
 misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for  
 one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,  
 forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or  
 the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant  
 to the audit in order to design audit procedures that  
 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the  
 purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness  
 of the entity’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies  
 used and the reasonableness of accounting  
 estimates and related disclosures made by the board  
 members.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board  
 members use of the going concern basis of  
 accounting and based on the audit evidence  
 obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related  
 to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt  
 on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we  
 are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report  
 to the related disclosures in the financial statements  
 or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify  
 our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit  
 evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s  
 report. However, future events or conditions may  
 cause the entity to cease to continue as a going  
 concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and  
 content of the financial statements, including the  
 disclosures, and whether the financial statements  
 represent the underlying transactions and events in a  
 manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board members regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with the Public Audit Act and the 
general notice issued in terms thereof, we report the 
following findings on the performance information 
against predetermined objectives, non-compliance with 
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legislations as well as internal controls. We performed 
audit procedures to identify reportable findings as 
described under each subheading but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance on these matters. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or conclude 
on these matters.

Predetermined Objectives

We have not audited performance against predetermined 
objectives, as the entity is not required to prepare 
a report on its performance against predetermined 
objectives. The entity does not fall within the Public 
Finance Management Act (PFMA) and the entity-specific 
legislation does not require reporting on performance 
against predetermined objectives. There are no matters 
to report.

Compliance with Legislation

We performed audit procedures to obtain evidence 
that the South African Board for Sheriffs had complied 
with legislation regarding financial matters, financial 
management and other related matters. We did not 
identify any instances of material non-compliance with 
specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the 
general notice issued in terms of the Public Audit Act 
2004.

Internal Control

We considered internal control relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements, annual performance report 
and compliance with legislation. We did not identify any 
significant deficiencies in internal control.

________________________________________

Mazars
Partner: Theeban Gangen
  Registered Auditor
Date: 30 June 2020

REGISTERED AUDITOR - A FIRM OF CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS (SA)
IRBA REGISTRATION NUMBER 900222 

MAZARS HOUSE, RIALTO ROAD GRAND MOORINGS PRECINCT
CENTURY CITY, 7441, PO Box 134 CENTURY CITY 7446
DOCEX 9 CENTURY CITY

TEL: +27 21 818 5000 • FAX: +27 21 818 5001
cpt@mazars.co.za • www.mazars.co.za

PARTNERS:
MC OLCKERS (NATIONAL CO-CEO), MV NINAN (NATIONAL CO-CEO), LD AURET, JM BARNARD, 
AK BATI, H CASPER, FJ CRONJE, AS DE JAGER, DS DOLLMAN, M EDELBERG, Y FERREIRA, 
T GANGEN, AK HOOSAIN, MY ISMAIL, N JANSEN, J MARAIS, B MBUNGE, FN MILLER, G 
MOLYNEUX, S NAIDOO, MG ODENDAAL, W OLIVIER, D RESNICK, BG SACKS, MA SALEE, 
N SILBOWITZ, SM SOLOMON, HH SWANEPOEL, MJA TEUCHERT, JC VAN TUBBERGH, 
EC VAN HEERDEN, N VOLSCHENK, J WATKINS-BAKER, J WESSELS. 
 
A FULL LIST OF NATIONAL PARTNERS IS AVAILABLE ON REQUEST OR AT 
www.mazars .co.za
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
The board members submit their report for the year 
ended 29 February 2020.

1. Review of activities

Main business and operations 
The entity is governed in terms of the Sheriffs Act no.90 
of 1986, the objectives of the Board are to maintain the 
esteem, enhance the status and improve the standard 
of training and functions performed by sheriffs who 
operates throughout South Africa.

2. Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on 
the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available 
to finance future operations and that the realization 
of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary 
course of business.

The board members have considererd the potential 
impact of COVID-19 on the business and have not seen 
any material impact to date. They will continue to monitor 
the potential impact of COVID-19 on the business. 

3. Events after the reporting period

Within the context of the current pandemic (COVID-19), 
the global picture remains uncertain and evolving 
rapidly. Subsequent to 29 February 2020, The South 
African Board for Sheriffs (SABFS) has assessed the 
impact of COVID-19 on the financial statements. The 
impact of the COVID-19 on the cash flow will create a 
cash flow problem for the SABFS as sheriffs might not 
be in a position to pay their levies due.  The Minister 
of Justice and Correctional Services has approved the 
COVID-19 Internal Relief initiatives on the 9 June 2020.  
The financial impact of these initiatives amounts to an 
amount of two and a half million rand (R2,500,000). This 
consists of a once of payment of R2,000 to 740 Deputy 
sheriffs (R1,480,000) and a contribution of R10,000 to 
102 sheriffs (R1,020,000) where their gross turnover was 
less than R1,000,000 for the 2018/2019 legal obligations 
phase one. 

The board members are not aware of any matter or 
circumstances arising since the end of the financial year 
and up to the date of this report that would materially 
impact on the financial position of the entity.  

4. Public Finance Management Act

In a Board meeting held on the 15th October 2015, the 
Board resolved that the SABFS would  no longer seeking 
listing in terms of the  Public Finance Management Act 
(“PFMA”) schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA.  
The Board has resolved that it will adopt and implement 
the principles of the PFMA into its policies where it is 
economical and practical to do so. 

5 . Board Members

The board members during the year and to the date of 
this report are as follows:

NAME CHANGES

C. Mabuza (Chairperson) Re-appointed 01 March 2018

H. Mohamed Resigned 21 July 2019

M. Lephadi Re-appointed 01 March 2018

I. Klynsmith Re-appointed 01 March 2018

L. Mashapa Resigned 31 May 2019

M. Magida Re-appointed 01 March 2018

A. Singh Appointed 22 July 2019

K. Sigenu Re-appointed 01 March 2018

A. Murugan Appointed 01 March 2018

P. Mogale Appointed 01 March 2018

A. Ralehlaka Appointed 01 March 2018

A. Nkumise Appointed 01 March 2018

S. Mashaba Appointed 22 July 2019
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2020 

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Assets   

Current Assets   

Trade and other receivables 8 1,455,812 514,182

Receivable from related party 10 5,841,520 1,900,449

Cash and cash equivalents 9 11,236,209 13,785,017

18,533,541 16,199,648

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4 3,109,198 3,134,402

Intangible assets                                                                        5 1,086,731 1,228,208

Investments held to maturity 6 1,142,790 1,056,234

5,338,719 5,418,844

 Total Assets 23,872,260 21,618,492

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 1,574,558 1,058,449

Provisions 12 212,486 156,478

Total Liabilities 1,787,044 1,214,927

Net Assets 22,085,216 20,403,565

 

Accumulated Surplus 21,198,867 19,517,216

Non- Distributable Reserve 886,349 886,349

Total Net Assets 22,085,216 20,403,565
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES  2020 2019

 Revenue 14 22,163,143 19,520,585

 Other income 14 665,687 800,503

 Operating expenses (21,698,058) (19,117,836)

 Operating surplus 15 1,130,772 1,203,252

 Investment revenue 17 550,879 415,983

 Surplus for the year 28 1,681,651 1,619,235
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FIGURES IN RAND
ACCUMULATED 

SURPLUS

NDR - 
REVALUATION 

RESERVE

TOTAL NET 
ASSETS

Balance at 01 March 2018 17,897,981 67,162 17,965,143

Changes in net assets

Current year revaluation - 819,187 819,187

Surplus for the year 1,619,235 - 1,619,235

Balance at 01 March 2019 19,517,216 886,349 20,403,565

Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year 1,681,651 - 1,681,651

Balance at 29 February 2020 21,198,867 886,349 22,085,216
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020   

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts   

Receipts from sheriffs and Fidelity Fund 28,910,041 25,567,934

Payments

Payments to suppliers and Fidelity Fund (27,709,130) (24,115,437)
  
Net cash from operating activities  19 1,200,911 1,452,497
  
Cash flows from investing activities
  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (278,406) (291,969)

Purchase of intangible assets 5 (41,326) (29,720)

Advances & admin fees due by related party 21 (16,814,018) (15,624,604)

Payments received from related party 21 12,872,947 18,155,598

Interest income 550,879 415,983

Finance cost 4 (39,794) (75,257)

Net cash flows from investing activities (3,749,718) 2,550,031

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,548,807) 4,002,528

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 13,785,017 9,782,489

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the period  9 11,236,210 13,785,017
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FIGURES IN RAND
APPROVED 
MIDTERM      
BUDGET

BUDGET 
ALLOCATION 

FOR THE 
PERIOD

ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS ON 
COMPARABLE 

BASIS

DIFFERENCE 
BETWEEN 

BUDGET AND 
ACTUAL

NOTE

Revenue

Levies received 7,200,000 7,200,000 8,292,108 1,092,108 26

Administrative fees 13,869,660 13,869,660 13,871,035 1,375 26

Investment income 560,000 560,000 550,879 (9,121) 26

SETA grants 18,500 18,500 426,631 408,131 26

Other income 265,000 265,000 239,056 (25,944) 26

Total revenue 21,913,160 21,913,160 23,379,709 1,466,549 26

Operating Expenses

Board and sub committees 2,315,726 2,315,726 2,065,810 (249,916) 26

Executive Manager's Office 1,100,000 1,100,000 657,483 (442,517) 26

Legal and Complaints Division 169,000 169,000 52,617 (116,383) 26

Formal Disciplinary Hearings 771,354 771,354 820,797 49,443 26

Finance, Administration and 
Compliance Division

670,000 670,000 337,724 (332,276) 26

Communication Activities 982,500 982,500 1,018,970 36,470 26

Training 1,150,000 1,150,000 2,130,811 980,811 26

General Operations -  
Depreciation

325,145 325,145 486,414 161,269 26

Contracts i.e. Cleaning,  
Office Maintenance

928,284 928,284 939,507 11,223 26

Other General Office  
Expenditure

1,841,619 1,841,619 2,258,882 417,264 26

Personnel Expenditure 11,309,601 11,309,601 10,708,036 (601,565) 26

Staff Development 180,000 180,000 221,007 41,007 26

Contingency budget 50,000 50,000 - (50,000) 26

Total expenses 21,793,229 21,793,229 21,698,058 (95,171) 26

Net Surplus 119,931 119,931 1,681,651 1,561,720 26
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Annual Financial  
 Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

These annual financial statements have been prepared 
on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance 
with historical cost convention unless specified 
otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF  
 ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts represented in the annual financial 
statements and related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement is inherent 
in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the 
future could differ from these estimates which may be 
material to the annual financial statements. Significant 
judgements include:

Trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment 
at the end of each reporting period. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in 
surplus or deficit, the surplus makes judgements 
as to whether there is observable data indicating a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows 
from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a 
portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted 
for national and industry specific economic conditions 
and other indicators present at the reporting date that 
correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual 
loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio 
and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values. 

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future 
cash flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus 
and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is 
impaired. The impairment is measured as the difference 
between the debtors carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for 
use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are 
expected to be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or  
 service potential associated with the item will flow  
 to the entity; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal 
cost, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item 
of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.
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Measurement Subsequent to initial recognition 
Plant and equipment.

Plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line 
basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value.

Measurement Subsequent to initial recognition 
Property.

After recognition as an asset, Property whose fair value 
can be measured reliably shall be carried at a revalued 
amount, being its fair value at the date of the revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from that which would be determined using 
fair value at the reporting date.  Property will be revalued 
every 3 years.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life
Property 50 years   

Burglar alarms     10 years   

Computer equipment   4 years   

Furniture and fixtures 4 years   

Kitchen appliances 3 years   

Office equipment 3 years   

Motor vehicles 5 years   

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation 
method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately..

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised 
in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
further economic benefits or service potential expected 
from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The 
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item.

Use of estimates and management judgement

In assessing the remaining useful lives and residual 
values of property, plant and equipment, management 
have made judgements based on historical evidence 
as well as the current condition of property, plant and 
equipment under its control.

1.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:

• is capable of being separated or divided from  
 an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or  
 exchanged, either individually or together with a  
 related contract, assets or liability; or
• arises from contractual rights or other legal  
 rights, regardless whether those rights are  
 transferable or separate from the entity or from  
 other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic  
 benefits or service potential that are attributable to  
 the asset will flow to the entity; and
• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured  
 reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

An intangible asset acquired at no or nominal cost, the 
cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised 
when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so  
 that it will be available for use or sale;
• there is an ability to use or sell it;
• it will generate probable future economic benefits  
 or service potential;
• there are available technical, financial and other  
 resources to complete the development and to  
 use or sell the asset; and
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its  
 development can be measured reliably.
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Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible 
assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values 
as follows:

Initial recognition and measurement

Item Average useful life
Computer software 3 years          

Copy Right Material 10 years        

Electronic Database 10 years            

1.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial 
liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial instruments at fair value;
• Financial instruments at amortised costs; and
• Financial instruments at cost.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
except for equity investments for which a fair value is 
not determinable, which are measured at cost and are 
classified as available for sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value 
through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included 
in the initial measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method.

Impairment of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses 
all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 
will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all 
considered indicators of impairment.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised 
in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When 
such assets are written off, the write off is made against 
the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against 
operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at 
fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is 
objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 
days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired.

The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
deficit is recognised in surplus or deficit within operating 
expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.
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The receivable from related party is a mechanism to 
handle the transactions between the SABFS and the 
Fidelity fund.  These transactions are all at an arm’s 
length.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits and other short term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. These are initially recorded at fair 
value and subsequently recorded at amortised cost.

Investments held to maturity

Cash and Cash equivalents which are held for maturity 
is valued at fair value and are recorded inclusive of all 
interest amounts due at financial year end.

1.5 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short term employee benefits, (those payable 
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 
paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-
monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised 
in the period in which the service is rendered and are not 
discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is 
recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of 
non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus 
payments is recognised as an expense when there is a 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments 
as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry managed (or state plans) 
retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 
contribution plans where the entity’s obligation under 
the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.6 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a  
 past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources  
 embodying economic benefits or service potential  
 will be required to settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for 
the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
deficits.

The provision for leave pay is based on the values as per 
the VIP payroll at the financial year end.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. 

1.7 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential during the reporting period when those 
inflows result in an increase in net assets, other than 
increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity 
receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in 
the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other 
party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. An 
exchange transaction will be recognised as and when 
the Board receives a declaration from the sheriff.  
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Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and 
volume rebates.

Levies receivable from sheriffs in terms of Section 
19 of the Sheriffs Act

Revenue from the submission of documents in terms 
of Section 19 of The Act is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• Form 16 has been received and the amount  
 required is paid;
• Invoices are raised on the date the amount due was  
 paid and where the amount is not paid, an invoice  
 will be raised and the amount collected within  
 reasonable time;
 
Administration fee receivable from the 
Fidelity Fund

An administration fee of 8.5% is receivable from the 
Fidelity based on the value of the Fidelity Fund.  Revenue 
from this item is recognised when all the following 
conditions have been satisfied:

• It is based on the value of the fidelity fund,  
 excluding the monies and interest received on  
 unclaimed trust funds;
• The amount is calculated on a monthly basis;
• The amount is transferred through the related party  
 receivable account;

Interest, royalties

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest and royalties is recognised when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service  
 potential associated with the transaction will flow  
 to the entity; and
• The amount of the revenue can be measured  
 reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Investment income will be recognised as and when the 
SABFS becomes entitled to the income.

1.9 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE 
 TRANSACTIONS

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits 

or service potential received and receivable by an entity, 
which represents an increase in net assets, other than 
increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations 
that specify that the future economic benefits or 
service potential embodied in the asset is required to 
be consumed by the recipient as specified or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned 
to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use 
or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its 
objectives and can exclude or otherwise regulate the 
access of others to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 
an entity either receives value from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or 
gives value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that 
limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset 
may be used, but do not specify that future economic 
benefits or service potential is required to be returned to 
the transferor if not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or 
regulations, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon 
the use of a transferred asset by entities external to the 
reporting entity.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except 
to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect 
of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as 
a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-
exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces 
the carrying amount of the liability recognised and 
recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured 
at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised 
by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the 
entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at 
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its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is 
also required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is 
required to be recognised it will be measured as the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation 
at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase 
in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a 
liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable 
event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of 
the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.10 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current year.

1.11  IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL 
 EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure which was 
made in contravention of the SABFS policies and 
procedures as approved by the Board.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was 
made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 
statement of financial performance in the year that the 
expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified 
in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in the statement of financial performance.

1.12 BUDGET INFORMATION

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the 
form of budget authorisations (or equivalent), which is 
given effect through Board resolutions or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by entity shall 
provide information on whether resources were obtained 
and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.
The annual financial statements and the budget are not 
on the same basis of accounting therefore a reconciliation 
between the statement of financial performance and 
the budget have been included in the annual financial 
statements. Refer to note 26.

1.13 RELATED PARTIES

The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting 
entity’s financial statements contain the disclosures 
necessary to draw attention to the possibility that 
its financial position and surplus or deficit may have 

been affected by the existence of related parties and 
by transactions and outstanding balances with such 
parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements 
under the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard 
referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this 
standard in:

• identifying related party relationships and  
 transactions;
• identifying outstanding balances, including  
 commitments, between an entity and its related  
 parties;
• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure  
 of the items in (a) and (b) is required; and
• determining the disclosures to be made about  
 those items

This standard requires disclosure of related party 
relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, 
including commitments, in the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the reporting entity in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements. This standard also 
applies to individual financial statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding 
balances, including commitments, and relationships 
with related parties may affect users’ assessments of 
the financial position and performance of the reporting 
entity and its ability to deliver agreed services, including 
assessments of the risks and opportunities facing the 
entity. This disclosure also ensures that the reporting 
entity is transparent about its dealings with related 
parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or 
an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the 
other party, or exercise significant influence over the 
other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject 
to common control, or joint control. As a minimum, the 
following are regarded as related parties of the reporting 
entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family  
 is related to the reporting entity if that person;
• has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
• has significant influence over the reporting entity;  
 or
• is a member of the management of the entity or its  
 controlling entity.
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An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the 
following conditions apply:

• the entity is a member of the same economic entity  
 (which means that each controlling entity,  
 controlled entity and fellow controlled entity is  
 related to the others);
• one entity is an associate or joint venture of the  
 other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a  
 member of an economic entity of which the other  
 entity is a member);
• both entities are joint ventures of the same third  
 party;
• one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the  
 other entity is an associate of the third entity;
• the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for  
 the benefit of employees of either the entity or an  
 entity related to the entity. If the reporting entity is  
 itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are  
 related to the entity;
• the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a  
 person identified in (a); and
• a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence  
 over that entity or is a member of the management 
 of that entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that a related party 
transaction is a transfer of resources, services or 
obligations between the reporting entity and a related 
party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

The standard elaborates on the definitions and 
identification of:

• Close member of the family of a person;
• Management;
• Related parties;
• Remuneration; and 
• Significant influence.

2. Changes in accounting policy

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice on a basis consistent with the prior 
year except where new standards became available.

3. New standards and interpretations

3.1 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
 ISSUED AND EFFECTIVE

During the current year, the entity has adopted all new 
and revised standards and interpretations, which have 
been published and are mandatory for the entity’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2017.

The following standards were effective for the first time 
for financial statements covering periods beginning 1 
April 2015, however, these standards were not applicable 
to the entity:

• GRAP 18 Segment reporting
• GRAP 105 Transfers of functions between entities  
 under common control
• GRAP 106 Transfers of functions between entities  
 not under common control
• GRAP 107 Mergers

3.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The following standards were issued, but were not yet 
effective for the 2020 financial year-end:

• GRAP 32 Service concession arrangements:  
 Grantor
• GRAP 108 Statutory receivables
• GRAP 109 Accounting by principals and agents
• GRAP 110 Living and Non-living Resources
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4. Property, plant and equipment

FIGURES IN RAND

2020 2019

COST 
ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

CARRYING 
VALUE

 COST
ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

 CARRYING 
VALUE

Burglar alarms 13,964 (700) 13,264 2,700 (2,700) -

Computer equipment 1,116,825 (907,494) 209,331 1,074,132 (832,059) 242,073

Furniture and fixtures 937,405 (774,473) 162,932 866,907 (749,388) 117,519

Kitchen appliances 13,644 (13,539) 105 13,644 (13,538) 106

Office equipment 304,293 (250,655) 53,638 285,651 (212,743) 72,908

Motor vehicles 197,890 (145,529) 52,361 197,890 (115,951) 81,939

Property 2,925,597 (308,030) 2,617,567 2,792,988 (173,131) 2,619,857

Total 5,509,618 (2,400,420) 3,109,198 5,233,912 (2,099,510) 3,134,402

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 

FIGURES IN RAND

2020

OPENING
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
DEPRECIATION 

CHARGE
 VALUATION 

ADJUSTMENTS 
 CLOSING 
BALANCE 

Burglar alarms - 13,964 (2,700) (700,) 2,700 13,264

Computer equipment 242,073 42,693 - (75,435) - 209,331

Furniture and fixtures 117,519 70,498 - (25,085) - 162,932

Kitchen appliances 106 - - (1) - 105

Office equipment 72,908 18,642 - (37,912) - 53,638

Motor vehicles 81,939 - - (29,578) - 52,361

Property 2,619,857 132,609 - (134,899) - 2,617,567

Total 3,134,402 278,406 (2,700) (303,610) 2,700 3,109,198

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 

FIGURES IN RAND

2019

OPENING
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS
DEPRECIATION 

CHARGE
 VALUATION 

ADJUSTMENTS 
 CLOSING 
BALANCE 

Burglar alarms - - - - - -

Computer equipment 241,276 95,554 - (94,757) - 242,073

Furniture and fixtures 53,893 77,059 - (13,433) - 117,519

Kitchen appliances 220 - - (114) - 106

Office equipment 56,147 45,362 - (28,601) - 72,908

Motor vehicles 111,517 - - (29,578) - 81,939

Property 1,813,494 73,994 - (86,818) 819,187 2,619,857

Total 2,276,547 291,969 - (253,301) 819,187 3,134,402
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Property  2020  2019

The Board have acquired a Property situated at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town. 
The Property was bought in the name of the SABFS as the Fidelity Fund can only 
invest in property and not own property.     

The property has been accounted for as follows:

Cost of Building 13,370,326 13,370,326

less Portion Accounted for in the books of the Fidelity Fund (12,127,897) (12,127,897)

1,242,429 1,242,429

Additions as per Board Approval 513,901 513,901

Renovations 2015 94,278 94,278

Total Cost 28 February 1,850,608 1,850,608

Less Accumulated Depreciation at 29 February 2016 (113,718) (113,718)

Add Revaluation at 29 February 2016 67,162 67,162

Additions since valuation 197,588 197,588

Total Revalued amount 28 February 2018 2,001,640 2,001,640

Less Accumulated Depreciation at 28 February 2019 (274,965) (274,965)

Add Revaluation at 28 February 2019 819,187 819,187

Additions since valuation in 2019 73,994 73,994

Total Revalued amount 28 February 2019 2,619,857 2,619,857

Less Accumulated Depreciation at 29 February 2020 (134,899) -

Additions 2020 132,609 -

Total  Revalued amount 29 February 2020 2,617,567 2,619,857

Other information

i. The Property represent the value of the SABFS at the date of purchase of the Property at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town  
 at the 31 July 2013. 
ii. A Valuation of the property was undertaken by The Valuation Group, on the 12th February 2019.
iii. The valuator was Mr. Karl Crosland, a registered Professional Valuer, with registration number 3760/0.
iv. The property was valued at R15,500,000(2016 : R13,750,000).   The portion reflected is the portion related to  
 the fidelity fund only.
v. The valuation method used was The Income Capitalisation Method, which is consistent with the previous  
 valuation method used.
vi.  The assumptions used in the valuation is that the building is wholly owned and are owner used.
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5. Intangible Assets

FIGURES IN RAND

2020 2019

COST 
ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION

CARRYING 
VALUE

 COST
ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION

 CARRYING 
VALUE

Computer software 258,179 (233,791) 24,388 258,179 (221,507) 36,672

Copy right material 1,572,639 (774,344) 798,295 1,531,313 (603,825) 927,488

Electronic database 408,871 (144,823) 264,048 408,871 (144,823) 264,048

Total 2,239,689 (1,152,958) 1,086,731 2,198,363 (970,155) 1,228,208

Reconciliation of intangible assets -

FIGURES IN RAND

2020

OPENING
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS AMORTISATION
VALUATION/        
IMPAIRMENT 

ADJUSTMENTS

 CLOSING 
BALANCE 

Computer software 36,672 - -  (12,284 ) - 24,388

Copy right material 927,488 41,326 -  (170,519 ) - 798,295

Electronic database 264,048 - -  -   - 264,048

Total 1,228,208 41,326 -  (182,803 ) - 1,086,731

Reconciliation of intangible assets -

FIGURES IN RAND

2019

OPENING
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS AMORTISATION
ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION 
ON DISPOSALS

 CLOSING 
BALANCE 

Computer software 20,621 29,720 - (13,669) - 36,672

Copy right material 1,098,006 - - (170,518) - 927,488

Electronic database 264,048 - - - 264,048

Total 1,382,675 29,720 - (184,187) - 1,228,208

 

6. Investments held to maturity

 2020  2019

StanLib investment 1,142,790 1,056,234

1,142,790 1,056,234
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FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

7. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line 
items below:  

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables 1,133,818 444,556

Receivable from related party 5,841,520 1,900,449

Cash and cash equivalents 11,236,209 13,785,017

18,211,547 16,130,022

8. Trade and other receivables

Trade Receivables 1,461,199 739,146

Provision for Bad Debts (536,265) (303,424)

Other receivables 208,884 8,834

Value Added Taxation 321,994 69,626

1,455,812 514,182

The ageing of trade at the reporting date

30 days 360,746 -

60 days plus 1,100,453 739,146

1,461,199 739,146

Reconciliation of provision for bad debts

Balance at beginning of year (303,424) (130,075)

Impairment losses recognised (232,841) (173,349)

Balance at end of year (536,265) (303,424)

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 6,690 3,407

Bank balances 273,968 44,435

Short-term deposits 10,955,551 13,737,175

11,236,209 13,785,017

10. Receivable from related party

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs - owing amount  5,841,520 1,900,449

The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment
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FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

11. Trade and other payables

Trade creditors 720,177 625,033

Accrued expenses 854,381 433,416

1,574,558 1,058,449

12. Provisions

Leave provision

Opening balance 156,479 145,704

movement for the year 56,007 10,775

Closing balance 212,486 156,479

Provisions relates to Leave pay provision. The amount is recognised as leave due as at 
the end of the financial year. No further provisions are raised.

13. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line 
items below:

Financial liabilities by category

Trade and other payables 1,574,558 1,058,449

14. Revenue

Levies received 8,292,108 6,636,173

Administrative fees received          13,871,035 12,884,412

22,163,143 19,520,585

Other income 152,500 (90,350)

Fines and penalties 86,556 80,861

Fair value gains on investment - 14,000

PSETA - Learnership Support - 9,836

Royalties 426,631 573,300

SASSETA grants - 212,856

VAT Refunds Prior years 665,687 800,503

22,828,830 20,321,088



2020 67

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

14. Revenue continued

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service 
are as follows:

Administrative fees received 13,871,035 12,884,412

Royalties - 9,836

13,871,035 12,894,248

The amounts included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions are 
as follows:

Levies received 8,292,108 6,636,173

Fines and penalties 152,500 (90,350)

PSETA - Learnership Support - 14,000

Skills rebates - SASSETA 426,631 573,300

8,871,239 7,133,123

15. Operating surplus

Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Lease rentals on operating lease 326,949 316,193

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 303,611 253,301

Amortisation of intangible assets 182,803 184,187

Auditor’s remuneration 187,054 70,628

Consulting fees 168,078 342,357

Employee costs 11,497,428 10,743,411

16. Auditors remuneration

Audit Fees 187,054 70,628

17. Investment Revenue

Interest revenue

Current accounts 30,330 43,019

Short-term deposits 520,549 372,964

550,879 415,983
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FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

18. Taxation

No provision has been made for 2020 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from income tax in terms 
of section 10(1)cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

19. Cash generated from operations

Surplus for the year 1,681,651 1,619,235

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 303,611 253,301

Amortisation 182,803 184,187

Interest received (550,879) (415,983)

Fair value gain on investments (86,556) (80,861)

Finance costs 39,794 75,257

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (941,630) 754,168

Provisions 56,008 10,775

Trade and other payables 516,109 (947,581)

1,200,911 1,452,498

20. Commitments

Operating leases - as lessee (office equipment and telephone systems)

Minimum lease payments due

     -     within one year - 144,874

- 144,874

21.  Related parties

Relationships

Common board members  South African Board for Sheriffs 

The Sheriffs board was established under the Sheriff’s act and the Fidelity fund is man-
aged by the board on behalf of the Minister of Justice.  The Board enters into various 
transactions, on arm’s length with Fidelity Fund.  The Board and the Fund had common 
board members for the year. 

Related party balances

Receivable from related party  

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

Opening Balance 1,900,449 4,431,443

Advances/Receipts 2,942,983 2,740,192

Administration fees 13,871,035 12,884,412

Payments received (12,872,947) (18,155,598)

5,841,520 1,900,449
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FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

21.  Related parties continued

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs  13,871,035  12,884,412 

The Administrative fee is based on the Sheriffs Act of 1986 as well as a Board Decision at what percentage the fee will be 
charged.  This decision is then sanctioned by the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services.

22. Risk management

Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an on-going review of future commitments.

Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts.  Cash is received from Sheriffs and the Fidelity Fund.

Interest rate risk

The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent on the changes in 
the market interest rates.  The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with floating interest rate that expose 
the Board to cash flow interest rate risks.  The interest rate used is based on the Prime rate.

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents  and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an on-go-
ing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control 
assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individu-
al risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits 
is regularly monitored.  The  receivable from Related party is the mechanism use to record transactions between the SABFS and 
the Fidelity Fund.  These transactions relates to normal transactions at arms length.

23. Going Concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.  This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.  The board members have 
considererd the potential impact of COVID-19 on the business and have not seen any material impact to date. They will 
continue to monitor the potential impact of COVID-19 on the business. 
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24. Events after the reporting date

Within the context of the current pandemic (COVID-19), the global picture remains uncertain and evolving rapidly. Subsequent 
to 29 February 2020, The South African Board for Sheriffs (SABFS) has assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the financial 
statements. The impact of the COVID-19 on the cash flow will create a cash flow problem for the SABFS as sheriffs might not 
be in a position to pay their levies due.  The Minister of Justice and Correctional Services has approved the COVID-19 Internal 
Relief initiatives on the 9 June 2020.  The financial impact of these initiatives amounts to an amount of two and a half million 
rand (R2,500,000). This consists of a once of payment of R2,000 to 740 Deputy sheriffs (R1,480,000) and a contribution of 
R10,000 to 102 sheriffs (R1,020,000) where their gross turnover was less than R1,000,000 for the 2018/2019 legal obligations 
phase one. 

The board members are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report that would materially impact on the financial position of the entity.

25. Public Finance Management Act

In a Board meeting held on the 15th October 2015, the Board resolved that the SABFS would  no longer seeking listing in 
terms of the  Public Finance Management Act (“PFMA”) schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA. The entity has therefore 
not been audited against the requirements of the PFMA, and the entity has therefore maintained its financial year for this report-
ing period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. 

26. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget

Revenue

The over recovery of revenue by R1,466,549 representing 6.69% is attributed to the following:

Levies     

The over recovery of levies of 15.17%  is higher than expected.  The impact turnover of the sheriffs profession has recovered 
from the changes to rules 43 & Rule 46 and this was positive impact for the SABFS.  Sheriff has thus reported a higher than 
expected gross turnover for the year.

Administrative fee

The over recovery of 0.01% is in line with the expected returns on the fidelity Fund.

Investment income

The under recovery of 1.63% is in line with the budgeted amount

SETA grants

The over recovery is due the increase in the amounts received from the Sassed on skill levy contributions..

Other income

The under recovery of 9.79% on this line item reflects the nature of the line item which is dependant on the sheriffs being 
fined.
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26. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget continued

Operating expenses

Total expenses is under budget by R95,171 representing a 0.44% under spend which is attributed to the following:

Board and sub committees     

The under spending of 10.79% on this line item is due to a reduction in the number of meetings being held in certain 
committees. These board activities were Consultative forum, Engagements Rule board and Other Stakeholder Engagements 
and also austerity measures implemented by the Board.

Executive manager’s office

The under spending on this line item of 40.23% was due to under spend on special projects allocated to the office of the 
Executive Manager.

Legal and complaints division

The under spending on this line item of 68.87% is due to the reduction in investigations at sheriffs offices.  These investigations 
were replaced by a more cost effective measures, namely Desktop inspections which were performed from the offices of the 
SABFS.

Formal Disciplinary hearings

The over spending of  6.41% on this line item is directly related to the number of DC hearings held during the year under review.  
The number of DC’s were more than the previous year.    

Finance, Administration and Compliance Division

The under spending of 49.59% on this line item is due to an underspend on all the line items. The major contributor was 
consultancy fees.

Communication activities

The under spending of 3.71% on this line item was due to savings incurred on some of the projects.

Training

The over spend of 85.29% on this line is  due to the  sheriffs introduction course training which was held in January 2020.

General operations - depreciation

The over spend is due to the additions to the assets.

Contracts i.e. Cleaning and office maintenance

The over spending of 1.21% on this line item is due to the increase in the expenses related to subscriptions and other services.
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26. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget continued

Other general office expenditure

This over spending of 22.66% on this line item  is due to increase in the following expenditure, recruitment expenses, printing 
and stationery as well as telephone. The line items are directly linked to the number of employees for the year.

Personnel expenditure

The under spending of 5.32% on this line item relates to the savings in relation to the Executive Manager position.

Staff development

The over spend of 22.78% on this line is due to the fact that more staff member has taken up studies in the latter part of the 
financial year.

Contingency

The under spending of 100% on this line item is directly related to other savings incurred during the financial year.

27. Executive management and Board member’s remuneration

The following persons are employed by the Board in their respective executive capacities during the financial year.

Executive Management remuneration

 2020  2019

S Snell - Executive Manager (Resigned 4 April 2018) - 155,196

R Gaoraelwe - Executive Manager (1 April - 26 June 2019) 318,473 -

R Kasipershad - Legal And Complaints Manager 867,442 700,145

P Roodt - Acting Executive Manager (End of contract 8 November 2018) - 335,952

V Botha - Acting Executive Manager (End of contract 30 April 2019) 172,297 326,069

AC Simon - Acting Executive Manager (Appointed 26 June 2019) 201,136 -

VP Nel - Training and Communication Manager 676,609 579,676

AC Simon - General Manager Corporate and Financial Services 875,931 800,201

3,111,888 2,897,239
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Board Members emoluments (non-executive)

FIGURES IN RAND

2020 2019

ALLOWANCES
REIMBURSEMENT 

OF EXPENSES
ALLOWANCES

REIMBURSEMENT 
OF EXPENSES

C Mabuza 56,598 9,028 50,160 56,547

H Mohamed - - - -

P Roodt - - 360 -

S Mashaba - 417 - -

A Murugan 137,840 30,663 87,768 54,177

N Soga - - 2,880 165

A Nkhumise 69,120 10,591 74,880 11,661

A Ralehlaka 57,600 8,859 55,080 1,130

P Mogale 66,144 7,652 57,664 4,911

K Sigenu 99,392 13,829 64,568 13,349

M Magida 125,360 8,768 113,840 7,200

M Lephadi 104,592 12,211 88,240 1,163

A Singh - - - -

L Mashapa - 866 - 819

I Klynsmith 63,376 19,523 82,296 20,554

G Cronje 
Independent Chairperson of Audit Committee

- 38,891 43,520 -

780,022 161,298 721,256 171,677
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FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Revenue   

  

Levies received 8,292,108 6,636,173

Administrative fees 13,871,035 12,884,412

Income 14 22,163,143 19,520,585

Other income

Fines and penalties 152,500 (90,350)

Fair value adjustments 86,556 80,861

PSETA - Learnership Support - 14,000

VAT Refunds Prior years - 212,856

Royalties - 9,836

Skills rebates - SASSETA 426,631 573,300

14 665,687 800,503

Operating income 22,828,830 20,321,088

Investment income 17 550,879 415,983

Total revenue 23,379,709 20,737,071
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FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Operating expenses   

  

Accommodation 452,373 395,620

Auditor’s remuneration 16 187,054 70,628

Bad debts 232,841 173,349

Bank charges 61,447 51,036

Catering expenses 191,119 166,589

Cleaning 100,901 87,591

Communication and public education 1,104,157 382,341

Consulting fees 168,078 342,357

Criminal and credit clearance 21,871 12,422

DC & Inspections 147,177 166,218

Depreciation 486,414 437,488

Electricity and water 159,925 162,493

Employee costs 11,497,428 10,743,411

Finance charges 39,794 75,257

Gifts 17,206 10,290

General Expenses - 119,720

IT expenses 55,581 18,894

Insurance 148,325 139,220

Lease rentals on operating lease 326,949 316,193

Legal fees 363,423 173,740

Parking expenses 59,555 44,333

Postage 511,292 228,189

Printing and stationery 500,875 561,902

Recruitment expenses 631,689 596,282

Repairs and maintenance 272,607 220,448

Security 12,153 7,080

Staff welfare 191,623 148,467

Subscriptions 86,113 110,903

Telephone and fax 247,554 258,187

Training 2,351,818 1,596,789

Travel – local 1,070,716 1,300,399

21,698,058 19,117,836

Surplus for the year 1,681,651 1,619,235
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STATEMENT OF BOARD’S 
RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL
The Board is required by the Sheriffs Act, No. 90 of 
1986, to maintain adequate accounting records and is 
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual 
financial statements and related financial information 
included in this report. It is the responsibility of the 
Board to ensure that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the 
end of the financial year and the results of its operations 
and cash flows for the period then ended. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion 
on the annual financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related 
data.

The annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines, and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based on appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. 
The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible 
for the system of internal financial control established 
by the entity and place considerable importance on 
maintaining a strong control environment. To enable 
the Board to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets 
standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of 
error or deficit in a cost-effective manner. The standards 
include the proper delegation of responsibilities within 
a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to 
ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are 
monitored throughout the entity and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the entity’s business is conducted in a 
manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is 
on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all 
known forms of risk across the entity. While operating 
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to 
minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied 
and managed within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The members are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can 

provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast 
for the year to 28 February 2021 and, in the light of this 
review and the current financial position, it is satisfied 
that the entity has or has access to adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. The annual financial statements are prepared on 
the basis that the entity is a going concern and that the 
Board has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate 
or curtail materially the scale of the entity.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
examined by the entity’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on pages 78 to 80.

The annual financial statements and supplementary 
information with selected notes set out on pages 81 to 
101, which have been prepared on the going-concern 
basis, were approved by the Board on 30 June 2020 and 
were signed on its behalf by:

________________________________________

Mrs. C Mabuza
(Chairperson of the Board)

________________________________________

Ms. K Sigenu
(Chairperson: Finance Committee)

________________________________________

Mrs. J Van Wyk 
(Executive Manager)
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services

Report on the Audit of the Annual Financial
Statements

Financial Statements Opinion

We have audited the annual financial statements of the 
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs set out on pages 82 to 100, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as 
at 29 February 2020, and the statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, 
statement of cash flows and statement of comparison 
of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, 
and notes to the annual financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs as at 29 February 2020, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows and statement 
of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the 
year then ended in accordance with the South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(GRAP) and the requirements of the Sheriffs Act, No. 90 
of 1986, as amended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the company in accordance with the sections 290 
and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered 
Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of 
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised 
November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, 
in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent 
with the corresponding sections of the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants and the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) respectively. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Emphasis of Matter - impact of the outbreak of 
COVID-19 on the financial statements

In forming our opinion on the annual financial statements, 
which is not modified, we draw your attention to the 
board members view on the impact of the COVID-19 as 
disclosed on page 81, and the consideration on going 
concern and non-adjusting post balance sheet events 
on page 98.

Since the balance sheet date, the company has 
assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the annual financial 
statements and considered the potential impact on 
the business. The current lockdown, based on current 
procedures and exemptions in place, is not expected 
to have a material financial impact on the company. 
The notes referred to elaborate on the board members’ 
determination as to why COVID- 19 is not considered an 
adjusting subsequent event.

Management will continue to assess the financial impact 
of COVID-19 and its impact on the company financial 
condition, liquidity, operations, industry and workforce, 
while placing the health and safety of its employees first.

Key Audit Matters

The key audit matters section is mandatory for all audits 
of complete sets of general purpose annual financial 
statements of listed entities; as well as where the auditor 
is required by law or regulation to communicate these 
matters.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. All key audit matters 
relate to the annual financial statements.

Other information

The Members of the Board are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the Board 
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Member’s Report and the supplementary information. 
The other information does not form part of the annual 
financial statements and we do not express an opinion 
thereon in our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board Members for the 
Annual Financial Statements

The Members of the Board are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the South African 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practices and the 
requirements of the Sheriffs Act, No. 90 of 1986, as 
amended, and the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 
of 2004), and for such internal control as the members 
of the board determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is 
responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the members either intend 
to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
Annual Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement  
 of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or  
 error, design and perform audit procedures  
 responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence  
 that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis  
 for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material  
 misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for  
 one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,  
 forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or  
 the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant  
 to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the  
 purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
 of the entity’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies  
 used and the reasonableness of accounting  
 estimates and related disclosures made by the board  
 members.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board  
 members use of the going concern basis of  
 accounting and based on the audit evidence  
 obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related  
 to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt  
 on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we  
 are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report  
 to the related disclosures in the financial statements  
 or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify  
 our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit  
 evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s  
 report. However, future events or conditions may  
 cause the entity to cease to continue as a going  
 concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and  
 content of the financial statements, including the  
 disclosures, and whether the financial statements  
 represent the underlying transactions and events in a  
 manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board members regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with the Public Audit Act and the 
general notice issued in terms thereof, we report the 
following findings on the performance information 
against predetermined objectives, non-compliance with 
legislations as well as internal controls. We performed 
audit procedures to identify reportable findings as 
described under each subheading but not to gather 
evidence to express assurance on these matters. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or conclude 
on these matters.

Predetermined Objectives

We have not audited performance against predetermined 
objectives, as the entity is not required to prepare 
a report on its performance against predetermined 
objectives. The entity does not fall within the Public 
Finance Management Act (PFMA) and the entity-specific 
legislation does not require reporting on performance 
against predetermined objectives. There are no matters 
to report.

Compliance with Legislation

We performed audit procedures to obtain evidence 
that the South African Board for Sheriffs had complied 
with legislation regarding financial matters, financial 
management and other related matters. We did not 
identify any instances of material non-compliance with 
specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the 
general notice issued in terms of the Public Audit Act 
2004.

Internal Control

We considered internal control relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements, annual performance report 
and compliance with legislation. We did not identify any 
significant deficiencies in internal control.

________________________________________

Mazars
Partner: Theeban Gangen
  Registered Auditor
Date: 30 June 2020

REGISTERED AUDITOR - A FIRM OF CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS (SA)
IRBA REGISTRATION NUMBER 900222 

MAZARS HOUSE, RIALTO ROAD GRAND MOORINGS PRECINCT
CENTURY CITY, 7441, PO Box 134 CENTURY CITY 7446
DOCEX 9 CENTURY CITY

TEL: +27 21 818 5000 • FAX: +27 21 818 5001
cpt@mazars.co.za • www.mazars.co.za

PARTNERS:
MC OLCKERS (NATIONAL CO-CEO), MV NINAN (NATIONAL CO-CEO), LD AURET, JM BARNARD, 
AK BATI, H CASPER, FJ CRONJE, AS DE JAGER, DS DOLLMAN, M EDELBERG, Y FERREIRA, 
T GANGEN, AK HOOSAIN, MY ISMAIL, N JANSEN, J MARAIS, B MBUNGE, FN MILLER, G 
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
The board members submit their report for the year 
ended 29 February 2020.

1. Review of activities

Main business and operations 
The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs (the Fund) is engaged and 
governed in terms of the Sheriff’s Act, No.90 of 1986. 
The Fund is controlled and managed by the South 
African Board for Sheriffs (the Board), which shall utilise 
the money in the Fund in accordance with the Sheriffs 
Act, No. 90 of 1986.

The operating results and state of affairs of the entity are 
fully set out in the attached annual financial statements 
and do not, in our opinion, require any further comment.

2. Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on 
the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available 
to finance future operations and that the realisation 
of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary 
course of business.

The board members have considererd the potential 
impact of COVID-19 on the business and have not seen 
any material impact to date. They will continue to monitor 
the potential impact of COVID-19 on the business. 

3. Events after the reporting period

Within the context of the current pandemic (COVID-19), 
the global picture remains uncertain and evolving rapidly. 
Subsequent to 29 February 2020, The Fidelity Fund for  
Sheriffs (FFS) has assessed the impact of COVID-19 on 
the financial statements The national lockdown that took 
effect from 27 March 2020  has negatively impacted 
the sheriff’s profession, as no services were able to be 
performed and trust accounts stagnated as a result 
of this. The future revenue of the Fidelity Fund will be 
impacted due to the reduction in interest rates as well 
as the decline of the sale in executions, which generates 
the funds for the interest-bearing trust accounts of the 
sheriffs. 

The Board members are not aware of any matter or 
circumstances arising since the end of the financial year 
and up to the date of this report that would materially 
impact the financial position of the entity. 

4. Public Finance Management Act  
 (PFMA)

In a Board meeting held on the 15th October 2015, 
the Board resolved that the SABFS would no longer 
be seeking listing in terms of the  Public Finance 
Management Act (“PFMA”) schedules as required by 
S47(2) of the PFMA.  The Board has further resolved that 
it will adopt and implement the principles of the PFMA 
into its policies where it is economical and practical to 
do so

5 . Board Members

The Board members during the year and to the date of 
this report are:

NAME CHANGES

C. Mabuza (Chairperson) Re-appointed 01 March 2018

H. Mohamed Resigned 21 July 2019

M. Lephadi Re-appointed 01 March 2018

I. Klynsmith Re-appointed 01 March 2018

L. Mashapa Resigned 31 May 2019

M. Magida Re-appointed 01 March 2018

A. Singh Appointed 22 July 2019

K. Sigenu Re-appointed 01 March 2018

A. Murugan Appointed 01 March 2018

P. Mogale Appointed 01 March 2018

A. Ralehlaka Appointed 01 March 2018

A. Nkumise Appointed 01 March 2018

S. Mashaba Appointed 22 July 2019
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2020 

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Assets   

Current Assets   

Trade and other receivables 6 373,269 298,421

Receivable from related party 7 28,669,484 32,699,831

29,042,753 32,998,252

Non-Current Assets

Investment in Property 4 13,345,717 13,586,773

Investments held to maturity 7 172,565,581 154,924,119

185,911,298 168,510,892

Total Assets 214,954,051 201,509,144

Non Current Liabilities

Unclaimed Trust funds 9 52,140,350 42,907,488

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 7,589,568 3,625,988

Payable to related party 8 5,841,520 1,900,449

Provisions 12 2,172,578 12,767,718

Total Liabilities 67,744,016 61,201,643

Net Assets 147,210,035 140,307,501

 

Net Assets

Accumulated Surplus 144,475,926 137,573,392

Non- Distributable Reserve 2,734,109 2,734,109

Total Net Assets 147,210,035 140,756,34
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Revenue 13 13,947,288 14,769,469

Operating expenses (17,656,290) (28,246,790)

Operating (deficit)/surplus 14 (3,709,002) (13,477,321)

Investment revenue 15 10,611,536 10,771,318

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 6,902,534 (2,706,003)
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FIGURES IN RAND
ACCUMULATED 

SURPLUS

NDR - 
REVALUATION 

RESERVE

TOTAL NET 
ASSETS

Balance at 01 March 2018 140,279,395 476,952 140,756,347

Current year revaluation - 2,257,157 2,257,157

(Deficit) for the year (2,706,003) - (2,706,003)

Balance at 01 March 2019 137,573,392 2,734,109 140,307,501

Changes in net assets

Current year revaluation - - -

(Surplus) for the year 6,902,534 - 6,902,534

Balance at 29 February 2020 144,475,926 2,734,109 147,210,035
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020   

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts   

Receipts from sheriffs and Fidelity Fund 29,452,844 29,396,355

Less cash payments to suppliers and SABFS (30,394,336) (19,926,714)
  
Net cash from operating activities  17 (941,492) 9,469,641
  
Cash flows from investing activities
  
Interest income 10,611,536 10,771,318

Movement in Investment held to maturity (17,641,462) (15,013,440)

Movement in Payable to related party 18 16,814,018 15,624,604

Movement in Payable to related party 18 (12,872,947) (18,155,598)

Net cash flows from investing activities (3,088,855) (6,773,116)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,030,348) 2,696,525

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 32,699,831 30,003,306

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 28,669,484 32,699,831
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FIGURES IN RAND
REVISED 

APPROVED 
BUDGET

BUDGET 
ALLOCATION 

FOR THE 
PERIOD

ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS ON 
COMPARABLE 

BASIS

DIFFERENCE 
BETWEEN 

BUDGET AND 
ACTUAL

NOTE

Revenue

Fidelity fund certificates 550,000 550,000 485,596 (64,404) 23

Interest income - Trust Accounts 15,000,000 15,000,000 13,461,692 (1,538,308) 23

Interest income - Investments 11,220,000 11,220,000 10,611,536 (608,464) 23

Total revenue 26,770,000 26,770,000 24,558,824 (2,211,176) 23

Operating Expenses

Administration fees 13,869,660 13,869,660 13,871,035 1,375 23

Audit fees 90,000 90,000 178,403 88,403 23

Bad Debts - - 147,749 147,749 23

Bank Charges 25,000 25,000 17,587 (7,413) 23

Building maintenance 500,000 500,000 - (500,000) 23

Claims against the Fidelity Fund 8,500,000 8,500,000 381,260 (8,118,740) 23

Consulting fees 500,000 500,000 - (500,000) 23

Depreciation 350,000 350,000 241,056 (108,944) 23

Disciplinary Inquiries & 
Inspections

400,000 400,000 373,830 (26,170) 23

Insurances 1,200,000 1,200,000 293,809 (906,191) 23

Legal fees 850,000 850,000 1,959,461 1,109,461 23

Utilities 175,000 175,000 192,100 17,100 23

Total expenses 26,459,660 26,459,660 17,656,290 (8,803,370) 23

Net Suplus 310,340 310,340 6,902,534 6,592,194 23
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Annual Financial  
 Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.  These annual financial 
statements have been prepared on an accrual basis 
of accounting and are in accordance with historical 
cost convention unless specified otherwise. They are 
presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which 
have been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF  
 ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts represented in the annual financial 
statements and related disclosures. The use of available 
information and the application of judgement is inherent 
in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the 
future could differ from these estimates which may be 
material to the annual financial statements. Significant 
judgements include:

Trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. In determining whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or 
deficit, the entity makes judgements as to whether there 
is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a 
portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted 
for national and industry specific economic conditions, 
and other indicators present at the reporting date that 
correlate with defaults on the portfolio. These annual 
loss ratios are applied to loan balances in the portfolio 
and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values. 

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future 
cash flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus 
and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is 
impaired. The impairment is measured as the difference 
between the debtors carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition. A 
provision for bad/doubtful debts is provided in terms of 
the policy of the SABFS.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets that are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative 
purposes and are expected to be used during more than 
one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or  
 service potential associated with the item will flow  
 to the entity;  and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal 
cost, its cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item 
of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.
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Measurement Subsequent to initial recognition 
Plant and equipment.

After recognition as an asset, Property whose fair value 
can be measured reliably shall be carried at a revalued 
amount, being its fair value at the date of the revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 
from that which would be determined using fair value at 
the reporting date.  The property will be revalued every 
3 years.

The useful life of items of property have been assessed 
as follows:

Item Average useful life
Property 50 years   

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation 
method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised 
in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
further economic benefits or service potential expected 
from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The 
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value plus revaluation reserves and less 
impairment provisions of property, plant and equipment 
are assumed to approximate their fair values. 

1.3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial 
liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial instruments at fair value;
• Financial instruments at amortised costs; and
• Financial instruments at cost.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
except for equity investments for which fair value is 
not determinable, which are measured at cost and are 
classified as available for sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value 
through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included 
in the initial measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method.

Impairment of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period, the entity assesses 
all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor 
will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all 
considered indicators of impairment.
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Where financial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised 
in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When 
such assets are written off, the write off is made against 
the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against 
operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at 
fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is 
objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 
days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired.

The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
deficit is recognised in surplus or deficit within operating 
expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

The payable to related party is a mechanism to handle 
the transactions between the Fidelity Fund and the 
SABFS.  These transactions are all at an arm’s length.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits and other short term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 

of changes in value. These are initially recorded at fair 
value and subsequently recorded at amortised cost.

Investments held to maturity

Cash and Cash equivalents that are held for maturity 
are valued at fair value and are recorded inclusive of all 
interest amounts due at financial year-end.

Unclaimed trust fund monies

Cash and Cash equivalents which are regarded as 
unclaimed trust fund monies are held at fair value and 
are recorded inclusive of all interest amounts due at 
financial year-end.  The interest on these funds is not 
recognised as revenue, until the applicable section, 
Sec22(5) are enacted into law.  A corresponding liability 
is recognised for the capital amount as well as the 
interest received to the year end.

1.4 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a  
 past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources  
 embodying economic benefits or service potential  
 will be required to settle the obligation;  and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
 
The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for 
the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
deficits.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available. Additional 
disclosures of these estimates of provisions are included 
in note 12.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 25.
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1.5 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential during the reporting period when those 
inflows result in an increase in net assets, other than 
increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity 
receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in 
the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other 
party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. An 
exchange transaction will be recognised as and when 
the Fund receives a declaration from the sheriffs.  
 
Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and 
volume rebates.

Fidelity fund certificates

Revenue from the issuing of fidelity fund certificates is 
recognised when all the following conditions have been 
satisfied:

• an application form has been received and the  
 amount required is paid;
• Invoices are raised on the date the amount due was  
 paid and where the amount is not paid, an  
 invoice will be raised and the amount collected  
 within a reasonable time;

Interest received from sheriffs in terms of 
Section 22 of the Sheriffs Act

Revenue from the submission of ve been satisfied:

• an audit report or an exemption certificate has  
 been received and the amount required is  
 documents in terms of Section 22 of The Act is  
 recognised when all the following conditions  
 hapaid;
• Invoices are raised on the date the amount due was  
 paid and where the amount is not paid, an  
 invoice will be raised and the amount collected  
 within a reasonable time;
• Where a report indicates a zero amount due, an  
 invoice will still be raised to ensure completeness  
 of revenue recognition.

Interest

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest, royalties and dividends is recognised 
when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service  
 potential associated with the transaction will flow  
 to the entity, and
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the 
effective interest rate method.  Interest as revenue will 
be recognised when a declaration is received from a 
sheriff along with an auditor’s report.

Investment income will be recognised as and when the 
Fund becomes entitled to the income.

Fidelity fund applications will be recognised when the 
certificate is issued.

1.6 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE 
 TRANSACTIONS

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits 
or service potential received and receivable by an entity, 
which represents an increase in net assets, other than 
increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations 
that specify that the future economic benefits or 
service potential embodied in the asset is required to 
be consumed by the recipient as specified or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned 
to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or 
otherwise benefit from the asset in the pursuit of its 
objectives and can exclude or otherwise regulate the 
access of others to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 
an entity either receives value from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or 
gives value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that 
limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset 
may be used but do not specify that future economic 
benefits or service potential is required to be returned to 
the transferor if not deployed as specified.
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Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or 
regulations, or a binding arrangement imposed upon 
the use of a transferred asset by entities external to the 
reporting entity.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except 
to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect 
of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised 
as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from 
a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it 
reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised 
and recognises an amount of revenue equal to that 
reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured 
at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised 
by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the 
entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at 
its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is 
also required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is 
required to be recognised it will be measured as the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation 
at the reporting date, 

and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, 
recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently 
reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a 
condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the 
liability is recognised as revenue.

1.7 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current year.

1.8  IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL 
 EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure which was 
made in contravention of the SABFS policies and 
procedures as approved by the Board.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was 
made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 
statement of financial performance in the year that the 
expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified 
in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in the statement of financial performance.

1.9 BUDGET INFORMATION

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the 
form of budget authorisations (or equivalent), which is 
given effect through Board resolutions or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by an entity shall 
provide information on whether resources were obtained 
and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.
The annual financial statements and the budget are not 
on the same basis of accounting therefore a reconciliation 
between the statement of financial performance and 
the budget has been included in the annual financial 
statements. Refer to note 23.

1.10 RELATED PARTIES

The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting 
entity’s financial statements contain the disclosures 
necessary to draw attention to the possibility that 
its financial position and surplus or deficit may have 
been affected by the existence of related parties and 
by transactions and outstanding balances with such 
parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements 
under the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard 
referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this 
standard in:

• identifying related party relationships and  
 transactions;
• identifying outstanding balances, including  
 commitments, between an entity and its related  
 parties;
• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure  
 of the items in (a) and (b) is required; and
• determining the disclosures to be made about  
 those items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party 
relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, 
including commitments, in the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the reporting entity in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements. This standard also 
applies to individual financial statements.
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Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding 
balances, including commitments, and relationships 
with related parties may affect users’ assessments of 
the financial position and performance of the reporting 
entity and its ability to deliver agreed services, including 
assessments of the risks and opportunities facing the 
entity. This disclosure also ensures that the reporting 
entity is transparent about its dealings with related 
parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or 
an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the 
other party, or exercise significant influence over the 
other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject 
to common control, or joint control. As a minimum, the 
following are regarded as related parties of the reporting 
entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family  
 is related to the reporting entity if that person;
• has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
• has significant influence over the reporting entity  
 and
• is a member of the management of the entity or its  
 controlling entity.

An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the 
following conditions apply:

• the entity is a member of the same economic entity  
 (which means that each controlling entity,  
 controlled entity and the fellow controlled entity is  
 related to the others);
• one entity is an associate or joint venture of the  
 other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a  
 member of an economic entity of which the other  
 entity is a member);
• both entities are joint ventures of the same third  
 party;
• one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and  
 the other entity is an associate of the third entity;the  
 entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the  
 benefit of employees of either the entity or an  
 entity related to the entity. If the reporting entity is  
 itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are  
 related to the entity;
• the entity is controlled or jointly controlled    by a  
 person identified in (a); and
• a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence  
 over that entity or is a member of the management  
 of that entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that a related party 
transaction is a transfer of resources, services or 
obligations between the reporting entity and a related 
party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

The standard elaborates on the definitions and 
identification of:

• A close member of the family of a person;
• Management;
• Related parties;
• Remuneration; and
• Significant influence.

2. Changes in accounting policy

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice on a basis consistent with the prior 
year.

3. New standards and interpretations

3.1 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS  
 AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED AND EFFECTIVE

During the current year, the entity has adopted all new 
and revised standards and interpretations, which have 
been published and are mandatory for the entity’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2017.
The following standards were effective for the first time 
for financial statements covering periods beginning 1 
April 2015, however, these standards were not applicable 
to the entity:

• GRAP 18 Segment reporting
• GRAP 105 Transfers of functions between entities  
 under common control
• GRAP 106 Transfers of functions between entities  
 not under common control
• GRAP 107 Mergers

3.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 
 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED,  
 BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The following standards were issued, but were not yet 
effective for the 2020 financial year-end:

• GRAP 32 Service concession arrangements:  
 Grantor
• GRAP 108 Statutory receivables
• GRAP 109 Accounting by principals and agents
• GRAP 110 Living and Non-living Resources
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

4. Property, plant and equipment

FIGURES IN RAND

2020 2019

REVALUED 
AMOUNT 

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

CARRYING 
VALUE

 COST
ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

 CARRYING 
VALUE

Investment in Property 13,586,773 (241,056) 13,345,717 13,586,773 - 13,586,773

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2019

FIGURES IN RAND

2020

OPENING 
BALANCE 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS DEPRECIATION
REVALUATION 

RESERVE
CLOSING 
BALANCE

Investment in Property 13,586,773 - - (241,056) - 13,345,717

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2018

FIGURES IN RAND

2019

OPENING 
BALANCE 

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS DEPRECIATION
REVALUATION 

RESERVE
CLOSING 
BALANCE

Investment in Property 11,570,672 - - (241,056) 2,257,157 13,586,773

Details of property  2020  2019

The property is situated at 88 Loop Street Cape Town

- Purchase price: 13,370,326 13,370,326

- South African Board for Sheriffs (1,242,429) (1,242,429)

Total Cost 28 February 2015 12,127,897 12,127,897

less Accumulated Depreciation at 29 February 2016 (552,066) (552,066)

add Revaluation at 29 February 2016 476,952 476,952

Total  Revalued amount 29 February 2016 12,052,783 12,052,783

less Accumulated Depreciation at 28 February 2019 (723,167) (723,167)

add Revaluation at 28 February 2019 2,257,157 2,257,157

Total  Revalued amount 28 February 2019 13,586,773 13,586,773

less Accumulated Depreciation at 29 February 2020 (241,056) -

add Revaluation at 29 February 2020 - -

Total  Revalued amount 29 February 2020 13,345,717 13,586,773

Other information

i. The Investment in Property represent the 10% of the value of the Fidelity Funds assets at the date of purchase of  
 the Property at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town at the 31 July 2013.
ii. A Valuation of the property was undertaken by The Valuation Group, on the 12th February 2019.
iii. The valuator was Mr. Karl Crosland, a registered Professional Valuer, with registration number 3760/0.
iv. The property was valued at R15,500,000 (2016 : R13,750,000) in the 2019 financial year. The portion reflected is the 
 portion related to the fidelity fund only.
v. The valuation method used was The Income Capitalisation Method, which is consistent with the previous  
 valuation method used.
vi.  The assumptions used in the valuation is that the building is wholly owned and are owner used.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

5. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line 
items below:

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables 373,269 298,421

Investments held to maturity 172,565,581 154,924,119

Cash and cash equivalents 28,669,484 32,699,831

201,608,334 187,922,371

6. Trade and other receivables

Trade Receivables 464,792 294,516

Provision for bad debts (249,192) (101,443)

Accrued income 157,669 105,348

373,269 298,421

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date

The ageing of accounts receivables are as follows:

60 days 201,308 59

90 days plus 171,961 298,362

373,269 298,421

Reconciliation of provision for bad debts

Balance at beginning of year (101,443) (35,053)

Impairment losses recognised (147,749) (66,390)

Balance at end of year (249,192) (101,443)

7. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 28,669,484 32,699,831

Investments held to maturity 172,565,581 154,924,119

All cash and cash equivalents are held in ABSA Bank, NedBank, First National Bank 
and Standard Bank

8. Payable to related party 

South African Board for Sheriffs – owed amount 5,841,520 1,900,449

The amount is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

9. Unclaimed trust funds

The unclaimed trust monies are monies paid to the fidelity in terms of section 22(5) of 
the Sheriffs Act.  The section, however, were not effective as yet as it is not signed by 
the President of the Country.  The Board have made a decision to collect these funds 
to ensure that the funds are secured.  No revenue were recognised on these funds.  
Revenue will be recognised as soon as the Section becomes effective.  These funds are 
not held as security, but are part of the Fidelity Fund.

52,140,350 42,907,488

Reconciliation of Unclaimed Trust funds

Total Capital amount as per note 9 52,140,350 42,907,488

Total Interest earned to date 7,221,723 3,417,074

Theoretical balance at end of year 59,362,073 46,324,562

10. Trade and other payables

Accrued expenses 65,263 122

Trade Creditors 300,008 207,682

Value Added Taxation 2,574 1,110

Unclaimed trust fund interest earned 7,221,723 3,417,074

7,589,568 3,625,988

11. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line 
items below:

Financial liabilities by category

Payable to related party 5,841,520 1,900,449

Unclaimed trust funds 52,140,350 42,907,488

Provisions 2,172,578 12,767,718

Trade and other payables 7,286,986 3,417,196

67,441,434 60,992,851

12. Provisions

Opening balance 1 March 12,767,718 418,278

Additions 853,000 12,945,028

Less Claims paid (11,448,140) (595,588)

2,172,578 12,767,718

Provisions relates to claims against the fidelity fund. These claims are recognised as and when the claims are approved. No further 
provisions are raised as mentioned in note 25, contingencies.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

13. Revenue

Fidelity fund certificates 485,596 446,891

Interest on Sheriffs trust accounts 13,461,692 14,322,578

13,947,288 14,769,469

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service are 
as follows:

Fidelity fund certificates 485,596 446,891

485,596 446,891

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service are 
as follows:

Interest on Sheriffs trust accounts 13,461,692 14,322,578

14. Operating surplus

Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 241,056 241,056

Auditor’s remuneration 178,403 60,000

15. Investment revenue

Interest on investments 10,341,305 10,484,672

Interest on current account 270,231 286,646

10,611,536 10,771,318

16. Taxation

No provision has been made for 2020 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from income tax in terms 
of section 10(1)cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.      
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIGURES IN RAND 2020 2019

17. Cash generated from operations

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 6,902,534 (2,706,003)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 241,056 241,056

Interest income - Unclaimed Trust monies - -

Interest income (10,611,536) (10,771,318)

Trust balances 9,232,862 7,351,503

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (74,848) 4,584

Provisions (10,595,140) 12,349,440

Trade and other payables 3,963,580 3,000,379

(941,492) 9,469,641

18.  Related parties

Relationships

Common board members  South African Board for Sheriffs 

The Sheriffs board was established under the Sheriff’s act and the Fidelity fund is 
managed by the board on behalf of the Minister of Justice.  The Board enters into 
various transactions, on arm’s length with Fidelity Fund.  The Board and the Fund had 
common board members for the year. 

Related party balances

Payable amount – Owing to related party  

South African Board for Sheriffs

Opening Balance 1,900,449 4,431,443

Advances/Receipts 2,942,983 2,740,192

Administration fees 13,871,035 12,884,412

Payments (12,872,947) (18,155,598)

5,841,520 1,900,449

Related party transactions

Administration fees charged by related party

South African Board for Sheriffs 13,871,035 12,884,412

The Administrative fee is based on the Sheriffs Act of 1986 as well as a Board Decision at what percentage the fee will be 
charged.  This decision is then sanctioned by the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

19. Risk management

Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk 
through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts.  Cash is received from Sheriffs and the Fidelity fund.  

Interest rate risk

The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent on the changes in 
the market interest rates.  The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with floating interest rate that expose 
the Board to cash flow interest rate risks.  The interest rate used is based on the Prime rate.

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents  and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an on-go-
ing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control 
assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Indi-
vidual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit 
limits is regularly monitored. 

20. Going Concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations, and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.  The board members have 
considererd the potential impact of COVID-19 on the business and have not seen any material impact to date. They will 
continue to monitor the potential impact of COVID-19 on the business.

21. Events after the reporting date

Within the context of the current pandemic (COVID-19), the global picture remains uncertain and evolving rapidly. Subsequent 
to 29 February 2020, The Fidelity Fund for  Sheriffs (FFS) has assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the financial statements 
The national lockdown that took effect from 27 March 2020  has negatively impacted the sheriff’s profession, as no services 
were able to be performed and trust accounts stagnated as a result of this. The future revenue of the Fidelity Fund will be 
impacted due to the reduction in interest rates as well as the decline of the sale in executions, which generates the funds for 
the interest-bearing trust accounts of the sheriffs. 

The Board members are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year and up to the date 
of this report that would materially impact the financial position of the entity



2020 99

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

22. Public Finance Management Act

In a Board meeting held on the 15th October 2015, the Board resolved that the SABFS would  no longer seeking listing in 
terms of the  Public Finance Management Act (“PFMA”) schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA. The entity has therefore 
not been audited against the requirements of the PFMA, and the entity has therefore maintained its financial year for this 
reporting period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. 

23. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget

Revenue

The under recovery of revenue by R2,211,176 representing 8.26% is attributed to the following:

Fidelity fund certificates

The under recovery of 11.71% on this line item is directly related to the number of sheriffs and the number of deputy 
appointments made for the year under review.  Less Deputies were appointed during the year.

Interest received on trust accounts

The under recovery of 10.26% of this line item is directly linked to the payment of unclaimed trust funds to the fidelity fund and 
the interest rate cuts during the year.

Interest receive on investments

The under recovery of 5.42 % on this line item is a direct result of the interest rate cuts during the year.

Interest income Unclaimed trust monies

No revenue is recognised on this line item as the section is not yet effective.

Operating expenses

Total expenses is under budget by R8,803,370 representing a 33.27% under spend which is attributed to the following:

Administrative fees

The over spending of 0.01% on this line item is due to the  increase in the value of the fund during the year.

Audit fees

The over recovery of 98.23% on audit fees is due the additional work the auditors had to perform to ensure compliance.

Bad debts

The  amount for bad debts is related to the provision for bad debts which is in line with the long outstanding debtors.

Bank charges

The under spending on this line item is due to the fact that less requests for bank statements were made where sheriffs are 
being investigated for misappropriation of trust funds.

Building maintenance

All building expenditure was covered by SABFS Major building maintenance will take place in the new financial and will be 
expensed partly in the Fidelity fund.

Claims against the Fidelity Fund

The under spending on claims of 95.51% is due to the fact that the number of claims approved is less than budgeted as less 
submitted claims met the requirements of the Sheriffs Act to  recognised as a valid claim.

Consulting fees

The over spending of 12.57% on this line item is related to the work done by consultants on the insurances of the fidelity fund.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

23. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget continued

Depreciation

There is an under spend of 31.13% on depreciation.

Disciplinary Inquiries & Inspections

The under spending of 6.54% on this line item is linked to the number of DC’s and inspections that has taken place during then year.

Insurance

The under spending of 75.52% in this line item is due to the fidelity fund not being able to secure insurance for the fidelity fund 
for part of the year.  The Fund were self insured against claims.

Legal fees

The over spending of 130.52% in legal fees is due to an increase in the number of court cases during the current  financial year.  
This include an awarding of cost against the Fund.

Utilities

This over spending of 9.77% is due to the valuation of the building increased significantly.

24. Claims against the Fidelity Fund

 2020  2019

Amount expensed in the current year 381,260 12,359,508

made up of

Current year claims 853,000 12,945,028

Monies received from sheriffs trust accounts (471,740) (585,520)

Total claims paid for the year 11,448,140 595,588

25. Contingencies

Claims

As at 29 February 2020, claims amounting to R30,768,781 (2019: R27,817,024) were under investigation against the Fidelity 
Fund, in respect of certain sheriffs, with the outcome of which was uncertain at the date of issuing these financial statements.  
The probability of the claims to be approved/paid are null as the Board has to first admit the claim, before it can be seen as a 
valid claim.  The Fidelity Fund is a fund of last resort and the Claimant has to excuses the sheriff fully.  In terms of Section 37(2) 
of The Act, a claim can only be admitted after a Claimant has fulfilled the requirements of this section of The Act.

Provision for Mogane Claims

During the 2013/2014 financial year the Board approved an amount R6,924,277 of which R5,823,487 were paid to the 
claimants.  A balance of R1,100,790 was carried as a current liability in the statement of financial position.  Due to the nature 
of the liability, it was decided to reverse the provision, but mentioned it as a contingent liability as the time of payment cannot 
be determined as the claimants concerned could not be traced.  The SABFS is still in the process to tracing these claimants.

Claims against the fidelity fund where sheriffs were found to be negligent in service deliver in terms of Section 35 
of the sheriffs act

During the prior financial years and the current financial year, the fidelity fund received a total of R5,567,112 (2019 : R5,193,288) 
claims where the sheriffs were negligent in executing their responsibilities.  These amounts were referred to the Professional 
Indemnity Insurance(PI) of the respective sheriffs.  In terms of Section 35, the fidelity funds might still be liable for the payment 
of the claim if the claimants are not successful with their claim against the PI of the sheriff.  No current liability exist for these 
amounts, but a contingent liability is raised due to the nature of these claims which can be claimed against the fidelity fund in 
terms of Section 35 of the sheriffs act.
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DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FIGURES IN RAND NOTES 2020 2019

Revenue

Fidelity fund certificates 485,596 446,891

Interest on Sheriffs trust accounts 13,461,692 14,322,578

Operating income 13 13,947,288 14,769,469

Other income

Interest income 15 10,611,536 10,771,318

10,611,536 10,771,318

24,558,824 25,540,787

Operating expenses

Administration fees 13,871,035 12,884,412

Audit Fees 178,403 60,000

Bad Debts 147,749 66,390

Bank Charges 17,587 51,436

Claims against the Fidelity Fund 23 381,260 12,359,508

Consulting fees - 393,997

Depreciation 241,056 241,056

Disciplinary Inquiries & Inspections 373,830 192,992

Insurance 293,809 761,738

Legal fees 1,959,461 1,036,187

Utilities 192,100 199,074

17,656,290 28,246,790

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 6,902,534 (2,706,003)
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NOTES





88 LOOP STREET
CAPE TOWN 8001

T: 021 426 0577
F: 021 426 2598
E: contact@sheriffs.org.za

SABFS Fraud Hotline:
0800 000 628

www.sheriffs.org.za




